Stoneleigh Ablbey
River Landscape

Warwickshire

g & Archaeological Recording and
gy e Investigation of River Structures

oxford

=N

= SR

N i
(U By 3

south

February 2013

Client: CGMS Limited

Issue No: 1
OA Job No: 5023
NGR: SP 31747112






Client Name;
Document Title:

Document Type:
Issue Number:

Grid Reference:

CGMS Limited
Stoneleigh Abbey River Landscape, Warwickshire

Archaeologial Building Recording and Investigation
1

SP 3174 7112

OA Job Number: 5023

Site Code: KESARL11

Invoice Code: KESARLBS

Prepared by: Jonathan Gill

Position: Project Manager (Historic Buildings)

Checked by: Julian Munby

Position: Head of Historic Buildings Department

Approved by: Julian Munby SIgNed.....ceviiiiieeeeee e
Position: Head of Historic Buildings Department

Date: February 2013

Document File Location: \Server21-db\buildings\Projects Ongoing\Stoneleigh
Abbey\Report\Stoneleigh Abbey River Landscape rdioor
rep.odt

[llustrated by:

Disclaimer:

Georgina Slater

This document has been prepared for the titledeptapr named part thereof and should not be raljgoh or used for any other
project without an independent check being cardetias to its suitability and prior written authtgrof Oxford Archaeology being

obtained. Oxford Archaeology accepts no resporsibilr liability for the consequences of this docemh being used for a purpose
other than the purposes for which it was commissilo\ny person/party using or relying on the doconfer such other purposes
agrees, and will by such use or reliance be ta@eronfirm their agreement to indemnify Oxford Arelo#ogy for all loss or damage
resulting therefrom. Oxford Archaeology accepts nesponsibility or liability for this document to warparty other than the

person/party by whom it was commissioned.

© Oxford Archaeology Ltd 2013
Oxford Archaeology

Janus House

Osney Mead

Oxford OX2 OES

t: (0044) 01865 263800

f: (0044) 01865 793496

Oxford Archaeological Unit Limited is a Register€fiarity No: 285627

e: oasouth@oxfordarch.co.uk

wyww.thehumanjourney.net

© Oxford Archaeology 0] February 2013



© Oxford Archaeology (ii) February 2013



Stoneleigh Abbey River Landscape, Warwickshire

Archaeological Building Recording and Investigation

Table of Contents

R UL 01 0= T PP RTP 1
R (oo [8 ot 1T o o FE TSSO P TSP P TSP TSUPPSPPSOON 2
I = 7= T (o [ {1 [T PP 2.

1.2 AIMS @Nd ODJECHIVES. .. .uuiiiiiiiiiiii e 2.

S I /11 { g T o (o] (oo YOO P PRSP PPPPPPPPPPPPPIN 3.

2 Archaeological and Historical background............coooeiiiiiiiinneeeeee s 3
2.1 INTFOTUCTION ...etiiieiiiieit ettt emn e e e e e e e e e e aens 3.

2.2 ThE @DDBY...ccoiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeee e eeeeeet e —————————taattrrnr 3.

2.3 The development of the Stoneleigh LaNdSCape........ccvvveeeiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee 3

2.4 Evidence of the Stoneleigh Abbey ArCNIVE . ..o, 5

R OA N = ol B = DS o T o] o] PO 6
3.1 Overall Site deSCrIPLION. .......ccuuiitcmreeiee e 6.

4 WESE PAIK WEIT ...ttt bt e ettt b et b e nen e s 7
o R 1 0T U o110 o RSP PP TP PPPPPPPP 7.

4.2 Historical bacKgroUNG...........ccoo oo 1.

4.3 Overall desCriptioN.............oooii i e e srr e n e nnraanes 1.

4.4 Stone-faced SPIlIWAY.........cc.uvuiiiiieie e 1

4.5 Walls to either side of spillway and abOVe...........ccvvveveiiieiiiiiceee 9

4.6 Long retaining wall to east Side Of WeIl............ooovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e 10

4.7 Retaining abutment wall at south-west coofepillway...........cccceeeeiiiiiiieiiieeeiim 11

4.8 West Park Weir CONCIUSION .........oiiiceeeeie ittt 12

5 TRE TS AN WEIT ...ttt n b snen e e 13
5.1 INrOTUCTION. ...ciiieiiiiitt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aaes 13

5.2 Historical backgroUNnd..............uuuiceeeeeerieieeiiieiiieeiiiviieeieeaae e eeeeee e eeeeeeeeeeeeas 13

LG T 5 1= T od o £ o1 14

I O] o[04 [V 11 (o] o PP PPPPPRPPPPTPI 18
© Oxford Archaeology (il February 2013



6 The Gazebo Bridge and SIUICE........ccociiieie ettt st st 19

6.1 INTrOTUCTION.....ciiiiiiiiii ettt e e e e 19
6.2 Historical baCcKgroUNd..............uuiiceeeeeiriiiiiiieeiiieeiiee e eeeeee e e e eeeeeeeas 19
R I B 1= T- Y03 1 o] 1 0] o PO PP TP PPPPPI 19
L O] o o1 [V 11 (o] o OO PPPPRPPPPTPI 25
7 TheADDEY Mill BIIOQE.. ..o iiiiieie ettt sttt st s e e s a e teene e tesreenaesresrens 26
4% N [ 1 {0 o [V [ox 1 o] o FO TP P PP PP P PPPPPPPN 26
7.2 Historical background......... ... ceceeeiiiiieiie s 27
7.3 DESCIIPLION. ..ttt e et s+ttt e e e e et e e e e e emnn e e e e e e e e s 27
8 TheLake/River and Diversion Channel Watching Bri€f........ccocooveeiiviecciiicese e, 30
8.1 INTrOTUCTION ...ttt e e e e e 30
8.2 DIVEISION CNANNEI .....oiiiiiiiii e e e 30
8.3 Lake/River watChing Drief............oi e 31
O CONCIUSION....ctiaiteie ettt bt b e bt e bt e bt et n et b et b et b n s 31
AppendiX A. BibliOgraphy ... e e 34
Appendix B. Listed Building DESCriPLioNS..........cceiiiieieriiiesiesieeie e eee e see e enneeeens 35
Appendix C. Stoneleigh Abbey: Registered Park and Garden Description..........ccccceveevennns 36

List of Figures

Figure 1: Site location

Figure 2: Plan of the site

Figure 3: West Park Weir, Outline plan

Figure 4: West Park Weir, exposed section on edestas spillway

Figure 5: West Park Weir, west wall above spillway

Figure 6: West Park Weir, plan of spillway

Figure 7: West Park Weir, east wall above spillway

Figure 8: Island Weir, plan

Figure 9: Island Weir, section through dam andwpif

Figure 10: Island Weir plan of lower spillway

Figure 11: Island Weir, Section detail throughlsgly on east side looking south.
Figure 12: Island Weir, detail of culvert portalriorth wall to west side of weir
Figure 13: Gazebo Bridge, plan

Figure 14: Gazebo Bridge, north wall of north chalnn

Figure 15: Gazebo bridge, south elevation of nonéinnel

Figure 16: Gazebo Bridge, north elevation of saltannel

Figure 17: Abbey Mill Bridge, ex-situ remains ofiigle gates

Figure 18: Ex-situ moulded stones recovered frool peneath West Park Weir

© Oxford Archaeology (iv) February 2013



Stoneleigh Abbey River Landscape Building Recording and investigation

Stoneleigh Abbey River Landscape, Warwickshire

Building Recording and investigation

Summary

Stoneleigh Abbey is a site with a wealth of hesgtagterest from its history as an early
Cistercian monastery converted to a country housdhie post-medieval period, to its
architectural significance and its collection oftrmnally important buildings. Among the
key interests however is its magnificent landsocapieh is particularly associated with the
great landscape gardener Humphry Repton who estaddi a design framework for the
grounds in the early 19 century and much of his proposals were either em@nted
directly under his control or subsequently by othasing his ideas. The gardens were also
enhanced in the mid &entury by another eminent landscape designerNé&ield and in
the 20" century by Percy Cane.

One of the central focuses of Repton's proposatstiva area to the south of the house and
particularly the river landscape as the Avon pasHes Abbey. The previous meandering
streams and narrow channels were replaced by aelatgke for boating and to provide a
reflection of the house when viewed from the woutita the south.

In the 20' century this river landscape suffered extensivbipugh lack of maintenance
leading to catastrophic failure of key structuresdan recent decades it has become a pale
shadow of its historic form.

A major project to restore this element of the lsecape has recently been undertaken with
the conservation or reconstruction of a numbereatdires or structures which together form
this centrepeice of Repton's landscape. Thesetataghave included the West Park Weir,
the Island Weir, the Gazebo Bridge and the AbbdlByiidge.

The collapsing (or partially collapsed) conditiori some of these structures meant that it
was necessary for many areas to be extensivelyiltelising stonework to match the
original, rather than merely being conserved wittight touch. This is particularly due to
the tremendous force of the river that they wilvédao withstand and the fact that they will
be functional structures, acting exactly as theyidithe 19 century. The work has not just
conserved the individual structures but also thedkcape and the setting for the abbey
itself.

A programme of archaeological recording has beewartaken during the conservation
work and this has enhanced our understanding cdeltfeatures. The work at the West Park
Weir has helped us to understand the evolutiorhisf 4tructure, which existed in 1749 but
which appears to have had many phases of rebuiltiolyding the construction of a long
retaining wall dating from 1883. Similarly to thee¥t Park Weir the Island Weir also
included very high quality masons work in the fioieted dam and spillway and the work
has revealed a large lower spillway which may patedthe main weir structure. The Island
Weir is thought to date from Repton's period (ormiediately after it) and to be
contemporary with the original part of the GazebidBe and sluice. The work here has
revealed evidence to suggest that there was foynzethrge platform across the rear of the
structure together with former grilles and previosisiice gates. This platform appears to
have been a secondary addition of possibly mid-tetitury date and it appears to have
been removed between 1887 and 1905.

© Oxford Archaeology Page 1 of 41 February 2013
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Background

Stoneleigh Abbey in Warwickshire is a sitenafional significance both for its collection

of 29 listed buildings (7 at Grade | or I1I*) in tmeain complex and park but also for its

landscape which is a Grade II* Registered Park @adden. It has a very rich history

having originally been established as a Cistercrmastery and then developed in the
post-medieval period as a great house together avittesigned landscape created by
major figures including Humphry Repton.

In the 20 century the historic landscape has suffered, ndesiatically through the
creation of the National Agricultural Centre (nowo®&eleigh Park) which cuts a swathe
through the park, dividing it in two but also thgiuthe neglect of individual landscape
components. Among these neglected elements wereingber of weirs and other
structures that formed part of the celebrated ri@adscape which passes to the south of
the house at Stoneleigh.

In recent years conservation and repair wtwkbese structures or features have started
and the river landscape is being restored. Previtwases have included the repair and
reconstruction of an elegant iron bridge and in 12@l major phase of works was
undertaken by PJM Associates on five distinct citries or features. The main site work
was undertaken between March and December 201th&ndiork was part funded by
Natural England through a Higher Level Stewardskgpeement. Oxford Archaeology
were commissioned by CGMS, acting on behalf ofiBlatvicliroy of PJM Associates, to
undertake a programme of archaeological recordiming the works. The structures
covered were:

The West Park Weir

The Island Weir

The Gazebo Bridge (Grade Il listed)
The Abbey Mill Bridge (Grade Il listed)
The lake/river

In 2007 CGMS had issued a feasibility studihwiesk-based assessment of the site and
in 2010 this was followed by a Project Design detgithe required recording works. In
response to the CGMS brief Oxford Archaeology pomdl a Written Scheme of
Investigation.

It is anticipated that the current conservatimrks will be followed by further phases of
landscape restoration at Stoneleigh. In additi@house was also extensively restored
at the end of the Z0century.

The overall Stoneleigh Abbey site, particylathe house, is well documented and
relatively well understood but it is noticeablettti@e structures in the current project are
far less clearly documented. There are variousiesudf the house and gardens but
although the structures in the current work are etomes mentioned they have not
previously been investigated in detail.

Aims and objectives
The main aims of the investigation were:

© Oxford Archaeology Page 2 of 41 February 2013
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- Torecord for posterity the form of the structupe®r to the start of the current repair
works;

«  To monitor archaeologically the intrusive partstef conservation works and to record
features or areas which were being removed, obd@rrtemporarily exposed,;

- To investigate the structures and attempt to battderstand them in terms of their
construction, date, evolution and alteration;

« To provide a record of the current repair worksrnbelves;

- To make the record publicly accessible (ie prodhcereport and to deposit the project
archive in a publicly accessible repository.

13 M ethodol ogy

1.3.1 The current recording project has utilisede¢hrprincipal survey techniques: a
photographic record, a drawn record and a deseeipéxtual record.

1.3.2  Thephotographic record comprised archivally stable black and white priasswell as
images taken with a digital camera. The photograpickided general views of the
structures, specific features of interest and irmaf®wing the general setting or context
of the features.

1.3.3  Thedrawn record included scaled drawings of principal areas armdufees or interest. It
particularly concentrated on structures which weig removed in the project.

1.3.4  Thedescriptive survey comprised making general notes to help explainiatedpret the
structures in terms of their structure, constructiese, evolution and alteration.

1.3.5 The recording was undertaken both prior tostlaet of the main conservation works as
well as during it in the form of a watching briéfotes were also made and photographs
taken after the completion of the conservation waslone of the aims of the project was
to provide an archive record of the conservationgpmmme itself. Recording of a
number of individual ex-situ stones dredged outhef pool beneath the West Park Weir
was also undertaken.

1.3.6  All the notes, photographs and drawings wdl labelled and formally deposited as a
project archive.

2 ARCHAEOLOGICALAND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

21 I ntroduction

2.1.1  Stoneleigh Abbey is a large site with a compiistory, many aspects of which have been
thoroughly researched previously. It is not intahde here repeat this research and
provide a full account of the Abbey but a summafryhe development of the abbey and
park would be of value here to place the worksantext.

2.2 The abbey

2.2.1  The origins of Stoneleigh Abbey lie in the mMi2th century when Henry II granted his
royal estate at Stoneleigh to a Cistercian Abbeiciwhad previously been established in
Radmore in Staffordshire at a site which had beeantéd to be unsuitable. The
foundation stone of the new church was laid in 1b$3he river next to a wood called
Eachelesand a small remnant from this woodland (Echillsodjosurvives today.

© Oxford Archaeology Page 3 of 41 February 2013
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222

2.2.3

2.2.4

2.3
2.3.1

2.3.2

2.3.3

The abbey was moderately prosperous, and taodeturther building works in the 13th
and 14th centuries, and still had an abbot and dsksiwhen it surrendered to the Crown
in 1535. It was sold to Sir Thomas Leigh in 15@dd has subsequently remained in the
same family. The relatively few surviving elenmgritom the medieval abbey include
parts of the church (consisting of the south walhe nave south aisle, and the whole of
the south transept), the east side of the clo{gteprporated in the house), and the free-
standing gatehouse.

After the dissolution the monastic buildingsrev converted to a house, and while this
may have included much of the cloister, it is otilg north and east ranges that survived
the subsequent rebuilding in the 18th century. Th87 estate map seems to show a
large, probably courtyard plan, building on theesif the abbey, standing in an area
enclosed by a road on the north and west (andwatbther buildings to the east).

In 1710 Edward, the third Lord Leigh (168338&Yinherited the estate and the following
year embarked on a Grand Tour of Europe that hafund influence on Stoneleigh.

A local architect, Francis Smith of Warwick, wasmissioned to improve the house and
over the following decade the great West Wing @n®&teigh was constructed.

The development of the Stoneleigh L andscape

Documentary evidence and previous investigatibave suggested that there were a
series of water mills in the vicinity of Stoneleigibbey since the monastic period and
that various associated alterations were undertd@ethe course of the river Avon.
Indeed two mills are recorded in the Domesday Surfrem before the Abbey's
foundation. The Abbey Mill was located in the aafathe current investigation to the
south of the Abbey and although the date of itsstraiction is uncertain there is known to
have been a fulling mill at the abbey by 1376 (CG#i&ly). It is believed that the river
was diverted by the monks as part of the conswoctif the mill and the channel that
extends from the West Park Weir to the mill sluiedelieved to be the head race from
these alterations. An estate map from 1597 showsriver separating to create two
channels in the current area of the West Park Wagre is also evidence for another mill
site ¢.48 m east of the West Park Weir (CGMS).

Documentary evidence suggests that the lapdsa@ad grounds around Stoneleigh were
not significantly aggrandised in tandem with thei$é® during the 18th century. Thomas
Wilke’s south-west prospect of the Abbey from 1 &ffpears to demonstrate this with the
new dominant wing hemmed in by an irregular wajpagating the house from several
clusters of agricultural buildings. The view ddpithe road in the foreground continuing
round to the west beyond the gatehouse, toward$ribdge, dovecote and mill (in the
area of the Abbey Mill Bridge in the current studghd enclosing a large outer courtyard
lined by buildings which seem to include stables.

Plans for improvements to the gardens werpapeel in the second half of the 18th
century under Edward the fifth Lord Leigh who caofeage in 1763 but it appears that
although considerable works to the house were takiem the proposals for the grounds
were only partially fulfilled. Accounts suggest thmany new trees were introduced and
there was new planting but the landscape was m#signed in the style of other great
houses from this period. Edward was declared insameplaced under the care of his
sister Mary Leigh. Relatively little expenditure tisought to have been made on either
grounds or the house either while Edward was uihay’s care or following Edward’s

death in 1786 when Mary inherited the estate (Radd Consortium). Another view
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2.3.4

2.3.5

2.3.6

2.3.7

2.3.8

24
241

from the south-west from 1795 still shows the waticlosing the west front and the
meandering river in the foreground.

In 1806 Stoneleigh passed to the Rev ThomaghLand having already employed
Humphry Repton at his house at Adlestrop he comamssl the great landscape gardener
to prepare designs for Stoneleigh. Repton firsited in 1808 and produced a plan and a
Red Book showing views of how the landscape cbeldmproved.

Among the key proposals were: to greatly edptre deer park so that it extended
southwards to take in the abbey and surrounding; doeimprove access by creating a
main new east-to west route passing to the nortthefhouse replacing the previous
circuitous route to the south; and improving thateern aspect of the house by creating
a great new reflective lake.

As part of the improvements to the southenmeets Repton advocated removing the
peripheral buildings which had hemmed in the hoasevell as the formal gardens and
courts to be replaced by grass and shrubberiefoamal terraces. Improvements appear
to have commenced in 1808, even before the Red Bk produced, and there is a
report of a flood in January 1809 which swept avealarge quantity of earth which

formed part of a new dam which was being constdudtet which had not yet been

secured. The improvements outlined in the Red Bumitinued over the coming years,
albeit not fully completed or entirely following ¢hdetailed proposals, even after
Repton's direct involvement ceased in 1813 follgatime death of Rev Thomas Leigh.

Towards the middle of the century the greatdrian landscape gardener WA Nesfield
advised on the Stoneleigh landscape and undertomle smprovements. The full scope
of these is uncertain but it is believed he dedigttee Orangery/ Conservatory at the
south end of the east wing.

In the 20 century the landscape was further enhanced byéehigner Percy Cane but in
the 1950s the Island Weir, which had created Reéptiake, was breached and this not
only devastated a key aspect of Repton's desigralsot swept away much of Cane's
work.

Evidence of the Stoneleigh Abbey Archive

We are fortunate that the very detailed Swmgkl Abbey Archive, held by the
Shakespeare Birthplace Trust, is catalogued antdbie details of each item is available
on-line. A rapid search has been made for entriestrlearly relating to the current
project (ie weirs, dams, mills, bridges) and tatedabelow. There are numerous entries
for bridges but those which clearly relate to thastruction of the New Bridge in 1812-
14 have been excluded as have those where thagesaggestion that it was a bridge in
our study area.

Items within the Stoneleigh Abbey Archiverelating to river landscape

Reference Date Details

DR18/3/47/51/14 | 1778 Masons estimates for widening the bridge atrtitie
DR18/3/47/51/13

DR18/3/47/51/15 | Sept 1779 Estimates for various thingluding a bridge over the new cut
DR/18/5/3895 Oct 1760 Bill for 9s for repairs to déarery small bill)
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DR18/17/15/54 1781 Carpenter's accounts for floodgate

DR18/17/15/55 1781 Rebuilding stone abutments togerid

DR18/17/15/93 1784 Mason work to enlarge bridge keyrttill at Stoneleigh Abbey

DR18/5/5573 June 1784 Bill to Lord Leigh from variolabourers for £8 for working gn
dam

DR18/17/15/93 1784 Account for mason work to enlaggthe bridge by the mill at
Stoneleigh Abbey

DR18/17/15/102 | March 1785 Bill for stone and masonrkwat Stoneleigh Abbey 1784:5
excluding pigstyes, yard, and bridge by the mill

DR18/5/5622 Sept 1785 Bill to Lord Leigh for £1 16s femoving dam

DR18/17/15/102 | 1785 Similar accounts to that abolating to enlargement of bridge by
mill

DR18/17/15/110 | 1785 Bill for stone and mason work tfee new weir across the river|at
Stoneleigh Abbey'

DR18/5/5637 30 December 1785 Bill to Rt Hon Lord lteifyom Michael Clarke for £9 17s jn
respect of stone for the weir at Stoneleigh

DR18/5/6905 12 August 1809 Bill to Rev Thomas Leigbnf Thomas Phillips for £741 In
respect of making a new cut at the wéingt of money

DR18/17/38/11 25 February 1812  Bill from William Gtarmason to Rev Thomas Leigh for work to
floodgates adjoining the Upper Weir near Stoneldighey

DR18/17/38/39 Aug 1812 Bill from William Clark, masaie Rev Thomas Leigh for Mason's
work to mill, floodgates, dam and bridges at Steig.

2.4.2 ltis interesting to note the cluster of edrirom the 1780s, suggesting that considerable

improvements were undertaken in this period althoitigmay be that these were just
routine repairs, the type of which were always uteden but where for some reason the
accounts do not normally survive. Those bills vehttre invoicing sum is shown would
suggest these were relatively minor works but tlaeeesome where the sum is not shown
and this includes an entry from 1785 for stTone aragon work 'for the new weir across
the river at Stoneleigh Abbey'. This is clearlygadtally of interest although it could well
relate to a small weir which no longer survivesoae outside our study. The use of the
term 'across the river' may suggest the the wes agoss the main river channel, rather
than a diversion from the channel as is the Wesk Réeir, so it may have been a
structure closer to the Island Weir, although wewrwith some certainty that this did
not pre-date Repton as the lake was not createnteotife 19 century.

3 CurreNT StE DEScRIPTION

31
3.11

Overall site description

The current project on the Stoneleigh AbbeyeRiLandscape focuses on a number of
structures and areas to the south of the housey $tetch from the West Park Weir,
¢.450 m to the west of the Abbey, to the islandr w800 m to the south-east of it. The
West Park Weir splits the River Avon into two mahannels to the south-west of the
abbey and these re-connect at a confluence belevilbbey Mill Bridge to form a lake
as the river passes to the south of the house. [@késwas a key element of Repton's
proposals for the landscape and was created byetneval of a section of ham land
between two former channels. A small rump of themhand survives as an island to the

© Oxford Archaeology
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3.1.2

south of the house. The lake was particularly idéshto enhance views of the house
from the Grove woodland to the south, and also famross the water meadows. The
raised water level which created the lake was oflett by the Island Weir and sluices at
the Gazebo Bridge but in the "2@entury each of these failed and prior to the emtrr
project the water course to the south of the hdnagkreturned to a narrow channel rather
than the dramatic reflective lake.

The Grove woodland is reached by a iron bridfpch spans over the lower channel
below the West Park Weir and this bridge has bemstored in recent years. A short
distance to the west of the iron bridge is a raséid stone portal with small cascade
forming the southern end of a brick lined northsmuth culvert. This culvert extends
between the two main east to west river channeksng the West Park Weir and the lake
to the east. This portal has a tall arched opeaimjit is likely to be a Victorian addition.

4 \WEsT Park WEIR

4.1
41.1

4.2
4.2.1

4.2.2

4.3
4.3.1

I ntroduction

The West Park Weir is located ¢.450 m to trestwof the Abbey and it forms the
upstream end of a channel of the River Avon. Thiannel passes south, diverting from
the higher east-to-west channel, and enters a [@geimmediately below the West Park
Weir from where it continues east before reconmgctith the other channel just below
the Abbey Mill Bridge. The structural condition afmost all parts of the weir was poor
prior to the current conservation with many areasimg collapsed in recent decades or
having been dislodged, moved or greatly erodedhbyférce of the channel. Other parts
were also in a perilous condition and threatenethéu collapse. Unlike the Island Weir
(detailed below), the West Park Weir remained fiomatl in maintaining the level of the
higher channel but its historic form had been sartt&lly altered and prior to the current
conservation work its character was one of extréatleeit picturesque) decay.

Historical background

As outlined above documentary evidence suggdhat there have been a series of water
mill sites in the vicinity of Stoneleigh Abbey, lnding one ¢.48 m east of the West Park
Weir, and that the channel which extends from thestAPark Weir to the mill sluice
represents part of river diversion works undertakgrthe monks to create a mill head
race. A map of 1749 by William Wilkes appears towsha stepped structure at the point
where the mill race diverts from the main river ahid may well be the West Park Weir
which survives today, albeit probably with varielements rebuilt. The structure shown on
the 1749 plan does appear to be a substantiatisieughich corresponds well with the West
Park Weir.

The three 25 inch Ordnance Survey maps frevater 19 and early 20 century (1887,
1905, 1925) provide very little evidence of alt@natat this time or significant differences
with the layout today.

Overall description

The West Park Weir is located at a junctiothefRiver Avon where a channel is diverted
south towards a lower course, from the higher eaatif the river which extends directly
east towards the Abbey Mill Bridge. It is formed bygroup of principal structures or
features which will be described individually iretburrent report. These are:

the sloped spillway itself over which water flovesviards the pool beneath the weir
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4.3.2

4.4
44.1

4.4.2

4.4.3

4.4.4

4.4.5

the stone walls to to either side of the spillway above it (ie immediately to the north
of it),

the return wall at the south-west corner of thdvsay

the long retaining wall which flanks the east sifi¢he pool below the weir.

In the current project a water-filled coffemad was set immediately above the spillway to
raise the barrier and divert the entire river clenowards the east. The pool beneath the
West Park Weir was then dewatered and this revehleddramatic extent of the West
Park Weir's various stages of collapse. Vast numbéroose stones (facing and core)
were cast around the bottom of the pool from thkvwgpy and sections of former wall.

Stone-faced spillway

The sloped spillway, down which water overféofirom the higher channel, is the central
focus of the West Park Weir, both functionally amslially, and its conservation has been
one of the key issues of the current project an&tigh Abbey. The spillway is an
elegantly constructed structure with an upper fafcBne-jointed interlocking sandstone
blocks (c.25-40 cm deep) but its condition had detated greatly prior to the current
project (probably gradually throughout the secoalf bf the 20" century) to the extent
that many facing stones had been lost and mucheokastern half of the spillway had
collapsed.

The stones within the surviving part of thdlspy face largely appear to be from the
same phase and they assumed to be original (18torge. They are generally between
¢.50 -70 cm long (E-W) by between c.25 cm and 40&@inN-S) and generally ¢.20 cm
deep. Each stone was originally cut with had a 5 improjecting from one upper edge
and a 5 cm rebate to the opposite upper edge tlovgireg the upper face of each course
to interlock with the adjacent one and greatly tmthe strength of the overall structure.
In parts of the spillway the upper 5 cm of the stdrad been worn away so that the
interlocking 'step' element had been entirely logthe depth of the stones was less
regular, presumably to integrate the face intoghlestructure and there were occasional
very deep keystones (at least 60 cm deep) to beadstructure together. The uneven
weathering of the stones gave the spillway somgtlmiha contoured appearance with
particular dips towards the western edge.

The one clear area of significant previousiret the spillway was towards the upper
part of the centre where there is a large sectfdia@ng stones (c.4 m x 90 cm) which

have been replaced with cruder non-interlockingieteork with a character similar to

that used in the walls and possibly of a later &&¥htury date. This central area may
have seen particularly heavy erosion thus necdisgjtiis replacement.

When it was originally fully intact the slopsgillway would have been ¢.9.3 m wide
(between the two side walls) and c.5 m long fromdlest to the lower edge. The section
of the upper face which remained largely intact mwhige recording was undertaken was
c.6 m by c.4.4 m and formed what would have beenwbhsternmost two-thirds of the

original weir. The fall of the spillway from its ppr to its lower edge would have been
c.1.5m.

The eastern edge of the surviving spillwayfhad an irregular form and in many areas
the substructure immediately beneath was visiblethér to the east the substructure had
also largely collapsed and been worn away by thwe tf water although the wall to the
east partially survived. The substructure consimacwas of interest and was largely
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4.4.6

4.4.7

4.4.8

4.4.9

4.5
45.1

formed from limecrete with a base of larger stoleks below this which appear to be
set horizontally in contrast to the limecrete stuoe and facing stones which are set at
the angle of the spillway. There were patcheslay coofing tiles set in lime mortar
added on the top of the limecrete but this wasrlylealevelling device to fill gaps rather
than a full layer of tiles beneath the main stoffé® use of these was inconsistent and in
parts there were a number of tiles on top of edbbroA similar use of tiles in this way
was also noted in the Island Weir.

It was useful to note that in the largely apHied eastern part of the spillway it was
apparent that the construction of the spillway suwiasure was separate from the coursed
stone construction of the adjacent side wall gbefwall had been constructed first and
then the spillway substructure filled in afterwar@ven if they were essentially part of
the same phase).

As stated above once the pool below the Wadt Weir was dewatered this revealed the
extent of the collapse of the spillway and the hagenber of individual ex-situ stones
lying below the structure. The partially destruntiof the spillway exposed features that
would have been entirely obscured if it had remaihdly intact and it allowed a close
examination of these areas. Among the large massdislodged masonry revealed by
the de-watering was what appeared to be the lo@&stourses of the spillway which
had snapped off and slipped down slightly togethigh what appeared to be a large,
somewhat crude concrete apron which must have déeéed in the early 20th-century to
lengthen the life of the weir. This concrete appdato be set on the partially surviving
remains of an earlier apron formed from a serie®ig 'piano key' stones. These stones
were largely obscured by the concrete but they Warg horizontally set 'keys' set in a
clear line adjacent to each other.

The head of the sloped spillway was marked karge timber bearer set into the surface.
This was c¢.26 cm by 30 cm and extended acrossutheifith of the spillway, extending
at least 40 cm into the east wall. Immediately maftthe timber bearer was a ¢.8 m long
section which essentially formed the junction wh#re weir connected to the higher
east-to-west channel. This section had a horizpot@hcrete surface and retained the
higher water level. This area has not needed ceaten in the current project

Current works: Due to the partially collapsed nature of the wemd the necessity to
return it to being a fully functioning river struce, it was ultimately decided that the
entire spillway would have to be taken up and regdaby a matching structure in the
current conservation project. The limecrete base ket in-situ and built-up by adding a
new similarly constructed base in the areas whah lbeen previously lost. The profile of
the new facing stones matched the original stegpefile of the old stones but clearly
the new structure lacks the patina of age and iistiaracter of the previous spillway.
In the current works concrete was also poured tmfa buttress in front of the spillway
and stretching around the base of the east wall.

Wallsto either side of spillway and above

To theeast side of the sloped spillway the facing wall had fullgli@psed, probably some
years prior to the current recording, and beenacga by large modern gabbion cages
used to temporarily retain the bank. The sectiorhistoric wall to the north of this,
adjacent to the flat-based channel above the spjlldid survive when the recording was
undertaken although it was in very poor conditi@vihg been penetrated by extensive
roots, and it has been rebuilt in the current ptoje
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45.2

4.5.3

45.4

455

4.5.6

4.6
4.6.1

4.6.2

This surviving section of wall was ¢.8 m wigled constructed from coursed stone. The
southern half was older (possibly".8entury) and comprised stones with a rough but
distinct herringbone type of tooling to the faceil@tthe northern half of this wall had
been rebuilt with grey bullnose type stones. THagmose stones were the same as those
in a larger section further south in the same wailich is known to have been built in
1883 (detailed further below). The largest cracksthis wall were within the 1883
section.

There was a pebbly limecrete observed withéndast wall behind the facing stones and
there was a clear difference between the limecaretee upper 40 cm to that below. The
upper section of limecrete was a pink colour whetbat below was a whiter colour. The
lower half of the visible section of exposed wallte was of coursed stonework with lime
mortar while towards the top of the wall there ébply limecrete to the core.

Thewest wall by the channel above the spillway was in bettardidton than the east
wall with less cracks and movement and only thettea section towards the sloped
spillway and the rebuilt C-shaped retaining abutihters this wall been reconstructed in
the current project.

The main wall was constructed of coursed stmoduding various sections with distinct
types of tooling strongly suggesting various phasesebuild. The blocks towards the
northern end tended to have a rough herringbonkéntpsimilar to some found on the
corresponding wall to the east, while further te south and along the coping the stones
tended to have a dimpled face. At the southern atidcent to the section where the wall
has been rebuilt in the current project the staerd to have a vertical-line tooling.

It strongly appeared however that the lowet pathe wall incorporated the remains of
an older wall. These remains formed what appeaoetiet part of a heavily eroded,
consolidated mass of masonry which had lost ite fag¢ where some coursing remained
visible. It first appeared that this mass of magamas constructed against the later wall
which rises above but further investigation suge@st was an irregular base and that the
later wall was constructed on to of it. At the hemn end it was apparent that this
masonry extended around the corner into the mast-teavest channel and here it
particularly appeared to be a sloped plinth.

Long retaining wall to east side of weir

The long retaining wall which extends to teith-east of the weir divides into several
distinct sections. The northernmost section (c.8ong), close to the spillway, had
collapsed prior to the current investigation ancewlthe recording was undertaken it had
been replaced by temporary modern gabbion blockmddiately to the south of this is a
distinct section (4.9 m long) constructed using (@ssibly 18th-century stones) but
which showed evidence of secondary rebuild and aq@geto post-date the footings at the
base of this wall.

To the south of this (and separated by a dearght joint) was the longest part of the
eastern wall which was constructed in 1883 withicased blocks, on an earlier base. We
know the age of this section due to a date stoosecto the centre of the wall with a
flattened face and the initials ‘CL’ beneath theedd883. It may be that the ‘L' in the
initials stands for Leigh and that the work wasrgeen by a member of the family. In
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4.6.3

4.6.4

4.6.5

4.6.6
4.6.7

4.6.8

4.6.9

4.7
4.7.1

1883 William Henry Leigh was the 2nd Baron Leighitswas clearly not his initials but
it could have another.

The 1883 section was 2.3 m tall and was coctstd with a consistent character using
rusticated blocks similar to many used in the [at@th century on engineering structures
such as bridge piers etc. The earlier foundationsmbich the 1883 stonework was
constructed was from inconsistent stonework withiotes tooling marks and they show
clear evidence of distortion and the collapse whindsumably resulted in its rebuilding.
Towards the central area this part of the earlyl Wwadl largely collapsed and a concrete
shelf added, probably in the early 20th-centunyprimp up the wall. These footings had a
pebbly limecrete layer at the base, beneath thesedwstonework and the very foot of the
wall footings had two steps. This limecrete appdarery similar to the limecrete further
to the north beneath the area with the gabbionkislathough it was noted that the
straight joint between the 1883 section and theti@ecimmediately to the north
continued down below the horizon between the 188Buitding and the earlier
foundations on which it rests.

Towards the southern end the foundation baniat 1883 wall was observed to curve
slight towards the west, diverging from the linetioé 1883 wall above. This section of
the wall footings was constructed from generallggdhin stones mixed in with wider,
narrower ones to key them into the main wall behifitie southern end of the 1883 wall
appeared to end with a clear return to the corner

As mentioned above the northern end of the wa#l, adjacent to the spillway, is
constructed from the same rusticated stones a<% tfmsd further to the south and
presumably also date from a phase from ¢.1883.

Wall footings by east wall exposed by de-watering

The work to dredge the pool beneath the wesimoved a number of individual stones
(some moulded) as well as blocks of joined storresotlapsed sections of wall and it
also exposed several sections of footings fromiptsvwalls.

One of these was located adjacent to thewadkin front of the collapsed section which
was supported by gabbion blocks. This exposed fesriwas formed from good dressed
stone with tight joints but it had a slight stepdaappeared to be a footing which had
slipped slightly out of its original location raththan a collapsed section of wall. The
exposed wall appeared to be of probabl& déntury date

The main foundation exposed was c.7.5 m lonihveas constructed with large stones to
the former west face. Another section of the formweall was e ¢.3.3 m long, with four
courses, each one of which is deeper than the edmet®ow, and towards its south end it
was c.95 cm deep. The block tapered towards thi eod but this may have been due to
it being truncated to allow for a 20th-century ceate foundation to be added.

Retaining abutment wall at south-west corner of spillway

As mentioned above, on the western side ofsfiibway the flanking retaining wall
would originally have returned to the west immeelyatoeyond the southern edge of the
spillway. This C-plan retaining abutment would hagported the ground level to the
western side of the spillway and formed part ofibethern edge of the pool beneath the
West Park Weir.
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4.7.2

4.7.3

4.7.4

4.7.5

4.7.6

4.7.7

4.7.8

4.8
4.8.1

This structure had become dislocated fromrés¢ of the main weir, apparently many
years prior to the current recording and the baskdtipped forward dramatically by over
2 metres with the upper part leaning backwardss Tislocation may originally have

occurred in a single main slip but it was probadstacerbated by the water flow from the
spillway continuing to penetrate and erode behimedrmhasonry block.

The main southern face of the block was c.lomg by c¢.3.5 m tall, it was constructed

from regular coursed stonework and many of theestdmad distinctive tooling marks

(vertical grooves) found widely at Stoneleigh. Sanistones were used in works to the
abbey mill bridge in the 1780s. The size of tharsing was irregular from c¢.19 cm tall

to 36 cm tall and the stones are largely c.70 €r@0vide, although there is considerable
variety in this and the different depths helped/kek the structure together. During the
dismantling of the wall it was observed that eveitiyd stone or so is a deeper 'bedding’
stone which is approximately twice as deep asdbeaf the facing stones.

The surviving section of wall was 15 coursafi &and it was a curiosity of the
construction that the courses in the bottom halfeweticeably thinner than those in the
top half, whereas structurally it would be morealdor it to be the other way around. In
fact the thinnest course in the whole block (19 eva}p directly beneath the thickest (36
cm). The wall appeared to be single phased howeveother feature was a clear
horizontal line at c.1.7 m above the existing bakere there was a considerably higher
level of wear and presumably this marked the usadér line.

It was interesting to note that there is appievidence of some errors in how the block
was originally set out which had to be correctedheswall rose. The south face of the
block was flush at the south-east corner but teeidive stones stepped out slightly at
the south-west corner (each step c.5-7 cm). Tleip gtadually tapers away across the
elevation (west to east) and there is also a sirsilep at the south end of the east wall.
Presumably this was also part of the same cormectio

The inner core of the abutment was also forfraad large stone blocks but these were of
a rougher character being neither coursed nor eldesBehind the core a series of
temporary retaining gabbion blocks had been inden#o the bank to stop further
ground slippage.

It was remarkable that although the block $iggbed considerably it had remained intact
and this is testament to the astonishing strengtivhich the lime mortar used had set.
Indeed this strength provided to be a considerahkdlenge to the masons who have
dismantled and rebuilt the wall in the current pabjusing the original stones.

Intermittent recording and monitoring was utalen while the wall was dismantled and
this confirmed that the construction was relativelgnsistent through the structure.
However, a very large a step or key was noted énrétar which projected north from the
main wall into the main earth bank. Thus the uppbé&d and bottom third of the wall
were c.1 m deep whereas the central third was ddefe75 m deep). Presumably this
was intended to key the block into the bank bappears that in practice it allowed water
to get into the pocket at the base so it may haen la cause of weakness.

West Park Weir Conclusion

The West Park Weir is perhaps the most integeof the structures recorded in the
current project at Stoneleigh. It is an impressivednstructed piece of engineering and
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4.8.2

4.8.3

4.8.4

4.8.5

the current investigation has supported the béhaf it is essentially a pre-Repton part of
the water control system at Stoneleigh (albeit witltious phases of reconstruction)
rather than a part of the 19th-century picturedamelscaping works. The power of the
river in this area, particularly the sudden surdgesyell known and the weir is clearly a
feature which is subject to enormous forces. Ther wes clearly been subject to
numerous phases of patching and partial rebuildige its original construction,
particularly to almost all the flanking walls. Nenous areas of distinct phasing have
been identified in these walls and instances whieeefootings are older than the walls
above.

A structure is shown on the 1749 plan whicpeaps to correspond well with the current
West Park Weir and we can be confident that the inadl been constructed by this date.
The character of the stonework in the main weitlwpy could survive from this date,
being more suggestive of an 18th-century date timenfrom the 19th century, although it
would not suggest a date significantly before 1749.

The construction of this large weir, with vdiye stonework, would presumably have
been a considerable undertaking and it is intergdb note that the Stoneleigh accounts
suggest that relatively little expenditure was madethe gardens or grounds prior to
Edward the third Lord Leigh in the second half d&fet18' century (Parklands
Consortium). Secondary sources have suggestedhthiag was investment in the house
and gardens in the 1760s but that this was shatlliand as referred to above there are
several references to work on weirs in the 1780sese 1780s entries probably relate to
repairs and as previously mentioned the physicelesce also suggests a structure than
required intermittent repairs.

The Stoneleigh accounts include a bill frorB37or stone and mason work ‘for the new
weir across the river at Stoneleigh Abbey' (DR18I57110). The description of this weir
as being 'across the river' would imply that itiidikely to relate to the West Park Weir
(possibly closer to the Island Weir) but it couddate to the West Park Weir. This bill, as
well as others from the 1780s relating to bridged thoodgates suggest that considerable
works were undertaken to the river landscape i pleriod and even if the 1785 bill does
relate to the Island Weir it seems likely that warlis also undertaken to the West Park
Weir in this period. The nature of the constructiomestigated would support such a
date.

It is likely that some of the repairs and i&bwndertaken at the weir used collapsed
stones or very similar stones to the original g8 hard to distinguish distinct phases but
one exception is the long section of the east wdilich was constructed with quite
different rusticated stones which can be dated feodatestone to 1883. The northern
end of the east wall was similarly rebuilt in thisase.

5 THe IsLano WEIR

5.1
5.1.1

I ntroduction

The Island Weir spans the River Avon to thetlseast of the abbey and it helped to
create the higher water level and the lake to théhsof the house which was a key
element in Stoneleigh's 19th-century landscapéie Weir was in a very poor condition
prior to the current works, having been breachedh# mid 20" century and having

gradually deteriorated since then. It has beeroredtand substantially reconstructed in
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5.2.2

523

524

5.3
5.3.1

5.3.2

5.3.3

the current project so the weir is now functionaggin as a key part of the river system
at Stoneleigh and of the 19th-century designeddeapie.

Historical background

The Island Weir is assumed to date from Hum@epton's improvements in the early
19" century, largely because the reflective lake emdty the weir to the south of the
house was one of Repton's principal proposalsribarcing the Stoneleigh grounds.

The pre-19th-century maps show a confluendhefiver some way to the west of the
current location of the Island Weir and they do slmbw a weir or other river structure at
the location of the Island Weir. Wilkes' map of 97ghows two long buildings on the
north bank of the river in this area while Bakg@ian of 1766 shows the river passing this
area but with no features or structures of notepten's plan in his red book of 1808 also
does not show a weir in this location althoughviiis a design concept plan rather than a
construction drawing and it is likely that funetad structures such as weirs would not
necessarily have been depicted.

As outlined above there is a very useful deautary reference to a flood from January
1809 which swept away an unsecured part of a daah wlas being constructed by
Repton. This was before the Red Book was prodacedt appears the dam and creation
of the reflective lake were among the first workslertaken by Repton.

The three 25 inch Ordnance Survey maps freniater 19 and early 20 century (1887,
1905 and 1925) each show the Island Weir with alamarrangement although an OS
map from the second half of the century (1961-Fbwss the northern half of the weir as
having collapsed and no longer surviving. It islerstood that the weir was breached in
the 1950s.

Description

The Island Weir spans between the south baiitkecAvon to the thin island which was
created by the construction of the eastward chdinoel the gazebo bridge and sluices.

Prior to the start of the current project igland Weir was heavily overgrown and largely
obscured by thick vegetation. As mentioned abbeevieir was breached in the mid™20
century and much of the northern half of the wead hcollapsed and either been
dislodged or swept away by the current that has blsving through this half of the
structure for over 60 years. In addition the rofstan a small tree or large bush had
penetrated into the main stone barrier and weusiog this to slowly diverge from the
main structure. The roots from this plant stretcbeer a large section of the central part
of the weir.

The weir divides into a series of distinctnedmts and each of these will be described
separately in the current report:

- Main dam constructed from finely-cut, interlockisgndstone blocks;

« Stone surface to west of barrier (upstream spiljyway

+  Spillway surface to east of barrier;

+  Lower spillway;

«  Southern wall;

« Northern wall;
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5.3.7

5.3.8

5.3.9

5.3.10

5311

Themain dam of the weir is constructed from sandstone bloakd i3 2 m wide by 80
cm tall. It would originally have spanned the fuildth of the river (c.15 m) but prior to
the current project only the southern half surviireditu. Immediately to the north of the
in-situ stonework was a large partially survivingcson which had become dislodged
from the main dam and had slumped down into themand into a void created by the
strong current flowing through the breach at thetheyn end of the weir. The northern
third of the former weir, in the location of theelich had been more substantially lost
although some consolidated lumps of masonry rerdaimighin the channel and were
exposed by the de-watering. Indeed the de-watagerngaled a great mass of dislodged
masonry in the northern area which have been perntbnunder water and were largely
covered by a build-up of silt and plant remains.

The cross sectional profile through the danthes same to each side and comprises
slightly cambered coping stones and three stemsffefing depths to each face. The top
step is 10 cm tall while the central one is 25 amd ¢he bottom one is 35 cm tall. The
facing stones, both the slightly cambered coping &ne steps to each side are
constructed from fine-jointed, red sandstone ashfad they are designed to interlock
with each other. The middle and lower stones dwle a sloped shoulder and a lip
immediately behind this into which the upper staeet against. The main part of the
inner core of the dam which was visible to the ipdyt collapsed sections towards the
north was formed from rougher, rubble stone set lime mortar.

There was considerable variety in both thellwaf the facing stones and the depth that
they extend into the dam core. The width of theimgstones varied from 20 m to 40 m
and similarly the lower stepped stones varied f&fhto 70 cm in length as they entered
the wall. The differing depths of stones would #ese the overall solidity of the
structure.

The base of the dam was formed from a largesnof consolidated, pebbly limecrete
which also extended beneath the spillways.

At the southern end a long section of concsateived on top of the coping and this was
presumably added in the 2@entury as a crude repair or protective cap. hiis been
truncated and would have continued further to thithnacross the top of the weir.

Current works In the current conservation project the survivsmuthern half of the

historic dam has been retained while the northeli has been replaced by a new
structure with a reinforced concrete core and latding stonework to match the
original.

Theupstream spillway to the west side of the dam appeared entirely copdeary with
the dam and was again constructed from fine-joinpedttially interlocking sandstone. It
comprised three gently sloping sections of simveédth (c.1.5 m) with a shallow step
between each. The facing stones were set on adbasm-dressed stone as well as rubble
and in areas this was levelled with roof tiles isetnortar, a technique also used at the
West Park Weir. The two upper sections of thecstine each slightly overlie the one
directly beneath but the main weir dam does notl@vihe spillway surface.

The two uppermost sections of the spillwayenaf similar construction with a set of
relatively long 'piano key' type stones orientaieast to west above two rows of
rectangular stones orientated north to south. Wueesets of north to south stones had an
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5.3.13

5.3.14

5.3.15

5.3.16

interlocking detail to add strength to the oversiiucture although this detail was
different between the upper set and the lower dméeed, although these two upper
sections of the spillway surface are of similar stomction they were far from identical

and there were many differences such as the ddptheostones (20 cm to the upper
section, 14 cm to the middle section) and the Hetahe edge of the step (curved to the
lower one, squared to the upper).

The lower section of the spillway was againmed from three rows of stones but these
were all rectangular and orientated north to saather than being east to west 'piano
key' stones.

Thedownsteam spillway to the east side of the dam was wider than th#t@éaupstream
and even the surviving section on the southern dfathe weir had been substantially
altered through the replacement of much of theasarivith concrete. The spillway again
comprised three gently sloping sections with a &tefoveen each but on this side of the
weir most of the upper and lower sections of stbad been replaced by a concrete
surface. A small number of primary stones did sgrwithin the largely concrete areas
to confirm the original construction and other tharthe northern area where the whole
weir had collapsed the stonework entirely surviirethe central part of the spillway. The
stonework in this area followed a pattern and tlvems a slight shoulder where the angle
of the slope alters.

Lower spillway: one of the interesting aspects of the weir thas wxposed by the de-

watering in the current project was a large lowslway crossing the channel to the east
of the main weir and permanently below the watee.liThis was c¢.4 m wide (E-W) and

the construction was quite different to that of thain weir with the surface formed from

far less regular, non-interlocking stonework. Thesteand west edges of the lower
spillway were generally formed from larger blocks80 x 50 cm) while the main part of

the surface is formed from irregular stones whiahlargely but not entirely squared and
with a character very different to the fine-jointadhlar in the main weir. Clearly the

distinct difference in the construction type magngly be due to a rougher stonework
being used in the area which would be permanentlscared by water but it could

indicate a distinct phase of construction, parédyl because parts of the fine-jointed
stonework in the main weir would also have beewwehe waterline.

The lower spillway was structurally separfaten the downstream spillway of the main
weir, with a long timber bearer at the surfaceshilwith the stone face, and two stone
walls adjacent to each other supporting the bottérthe upper spillway and the top of
the lower spillway. The timber bearer is set op ¢ the upper wall and the two walls
are ¢.20 cm apart from each other with a distieatacotta colour clay set between the
walls. This was presumably added as a puddlingiclay attempt to avoid erosion.

Thesouthern river wall largely survived although it was in poor conditiand was
largely obscured prior to the current project bgetation. The wall to the west of the
weir dam was constructed from six courses of ashliliough the section closest to the
barrier had lost its upper course prior to the entrrwork. Movement was also clearly
apparent in the other courses, largely caused bis rpenetrating within the wall. The
wall extended ¢.80 cm above the top of the stomengoto the dam and it was apparent
that both the main barrier of the weir and spillwagre constructed into the wall; it
strongly appears that the two elements of the coctidn were contemporary with each
other.
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5.3.17 Afeature of interest in this section of theer wall was a portal from a culvert just to the

5.3.18

5.3.19

5.3.20

5.3.21

west of the main upstream spillway. This portabwea70 cm wide by 1.1 m tall with a

square stone lintel and the opening was set witménlower three courses of the stone
wall. There was a slight recess to each side@bffening, immediately behind the jamb
and here there would have been timber posts frefuiee mechanism which could have
been operated from above on the river bank. Whenrécording was undertaken the
culvert was blocked almost immediately behind tlperong by detritus and its route

could not be ascertained but it is assumed it thasinlet of a short bypass channel
around the weir. There was a similar portal justthie east of the weir and this is
described below. There is also an identical iplettal on the north river bank on the
upstream side of the weir (detailed further belolwmay be that these channels could
have been opened periodically to reduce the wder dver the weir and to allow some

repair works to the dam structure.

The 25 inch Ordnance Survey maps of 19051828 each mark sluices to the north and
south sides of the weir which must relate to thies¢ures although it is noticeable that
the 1887 OS map does not mark a sluice here. Thissuggest that the sluices were a
late 19th-century addition to help control the wdtew although it is more likely to be
be a slight cartographic difference in what wasnghon the different editions of maps.

Towards the eastern end where the wall passadthe weir dam the top of the wall (one
course below the presumed coping) became lessareguil this merged into a great mass
of boulders just beyond the barrier and extendirgurad towards the south to form a

slightly wider pool beyond the weir. This irregulpile of boulders was presumably

carefully set in their current location to give atural and slightly wild character to the

point where the water would have flowed over the ¢ the barrier. It was noticeable

when the reconstruction of the weir was completed the effect of the boulders did add
a considerable interest to the powerful flow of evabver the weir. They add to the

contrast between the smooth reflective surfacéhefwater to the west of the weir and
the flow which breaks roughly over the weir to teest.

The boulders may also have had a furthertifumdn diverting the main force of the
water away from a culvert portal in the wall justhind the boulders to the south-east of
the weir. This culvert exit is largely covered bge of the boulders and hidden from
view but the tunnel is ¢.75 cm wide by 1.1 m taltlat curved sharply towards the south-
west as it extends away from the weir. The culveas brick lined and it had a flat top
with large stone slabs covering it over. The topthd culvert appears to be relatively
horizontal but the base sloped noticeably upwardatds the south. It was not possible
to investigate the culvert to any extent other tHaoking from the portal but as
mentioned above it is assumed that it was simpéy kit of a short by-pass channel
around the weir extending from the portal refer@@dbove to the west of the weir. The
channel would have helped to control the flow ofevat the weir.

Thenorthern river wall included a large scar clearly showing the locatibnvhere the
weir dam formerly entered this wall. The primarglirto the west of the former barrier
essentially survived, albeit in poor condition, ahd northernmost stones from this part
of the spillway also survived, truncated from tlestrof the spillway and partially
cantilevering out from the wall. This section okthiver wall was very similar to the
southern wall to the west of the weir with regulaursed ashlar and the coping formed
from larger blocks than any beneath.
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5.3.23

5.4
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5.4.2

5.4.3

5.4.4

This section of the wall also included a ed\portal the same as that in the south bank
This portal is also c.1.1 m tall by 0.7 m wide aithough the tunnel behind was largely
filled by earth and sediment it was clear thatuitved towards the east. The portal had a
large stone lintel set on small pads and immediabehind the jambs of the opening
there are 15 cm deep recesses within which theralgveotten remains of two posts
survived. Between the posts there was a timbebgited into place at the base of the
opening with a further board directly on top, amdjdther these formed part of the
fragmentary remains of a former sluice mechanishhodigh only the lower sections of
the posts survived and they were heavily rottemas possible to confirm that they had
recesses facing each other within which the slgates would presumably have slotted.
The gates must have been operated from above vwatmple system whereby the gates
would have been hauled up and down. Various exisin fragments remained within
the fill including long plates with holes to whig¥hich the gates would have been bolted
and two long thin bars. The inner walls of theneinwere formed from red brick (6.75
cm deep) the character of which is suggestive laiter 18" or early 19th-century date
and the culvert is likely to be original. The reses for the posts were also formed from
the same brickwork (rendered) as the main walls #red floor of the culvert was
rendered.

The location of the exit portal at the otkad of this culvert remains slightly uncertain
although what appeared to be a blocked former ogenvas observed within the
retaining wall immediately east of the dam and thigs suggestive of a former culvert
portal. This section of wall had been rebuilt,estthan the bottom two courses, and here
none of the spillway survived other than very shouhcated stubs. Indeed on this side
the lower two surviving primary courses had slumpedsiderably and presumably the
upper part of the wall had collapsed. The rebwdtl to the east had a different character
to the surviving original wall to the west with fesegular coursing and heavy pointing.
This rebuilt section of wall was c.4 m long andtateastern end there is a straight joint
in the wall which aligned with the lower spillwayéd the downstream spillway of the
main weir.

Conclusion

The Island Weir is assumed to have been carstt by Repton as a key structure to
allow the creation of the reflective lake at Steigh and analysis of the fabric in the
current investigation would support an early’ t@ntury date.

The creation of a dam and the lake is knomfdmcumentary evidence to have been one
of the first areas on which Repton focused andatbie was probably constructed during
the period between 1808 and 1813 when Repton wastlyi involved in works at
Stoneleigh.

Both the main dam and the spillways are ek#edr and intricately constructed
structures incorporating finely-cut, interlockintpses with many different profiles and
this must have represented an expensive undertakivggnature of the fine jointing was
similar to the quality of the masons work in the sStvé&ark Weir. Other similarities
included the use of a limecrete substructure ardutie of roofing tiles to level gaps in
the limecrete.

Among the unexpected features revealed duhiagcurrent project has been the large
lower spillway constructed from much more irregusémnework than the main dam and
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there is the possibility that this may survive franprevious weir that Repton raised. The
construction of the two sections of stonework deaty different from each other and
although it may simply be that the lower stonesewmef rougher quality because they
would be below the waterline the stones on therapst (west) side of the weir would
also have been permanently below water and thefirergointed. It is interesting to note
the reference in the accounts from 1785 to 'a neir across the river at Stoneleigh
Abbey'. The reference to a weir 'across the riwexild appear to suggest a structure in
this location rather than at the West Park Weir iamday be that a weir in the vicinity of
the Island Weir was constructed at this time.

This possibility would appear to be suppotigdhe fact that the substructures beneath
the upper and lower spillways were separate angtdsence of a layer of clay puddling
clay between the two structures.

6 THe Gazeso BRIDGEAND S.uicE

6.1
6.1.1

6.1.2

6.2
6.2.1

6.2.2

I ntroduction

The Gazebo Bridge and sluice are locatedasoluth-east of the abbey and together they
form a Grade Il listed building (sé@ummerhouse and Sluices at West End of Isiand
Appendix B). The bridge is a sandstone structuréchwvispans over a channel which
bypasses the Island Weir and it incorporates twenoms: a main arched portal and
adjacent to this the channel to the former sluateg (re-instated in the current project).

Similarly to the other main structures in therent study the Gazebo Bridge had fallen
into a state of considerable disrepair in the |2@Ycentury; the sluice gates appeared to
have not been functional for many years and thdgeriwhich crossed over the sluice
channel had largely collapsed. New sluice gatese haww been reinstated into the

structure and it is operating once again as a phthe inter-related features in the

Stoneleigh river landscape.

Historical background

Neither Wilkes' map of 1749 nor Baker's of @BBow structures or features to suggest
that any part of the Gazebo Bridge had been cottetiuat these dates. The design
concept plan contained in Repton's Red Book of 1868 does not show a structure in
this area or the distinctive channel which wastoubypass the island weir. However, as
the Red Book plan was intended as a general comrgpting rather than a exact
depiction of the landscape this should not be tek®monclusive proof that the cut and
Gazebo Bridge had not been constructed at this détte listed building description (see
Appendix B) provides a date of ¢.1813 for the dunte and states that it was based on a
design by Repton but it is unclear whether this waeculation or based on firm
evidence.

The three late T9and earlier 20th-century Ordnance Survey maps 418905 and
1925) are of some interest due to differences éendépiction of the structure from the
1887 map to the two early 2@entury maps. The cut which forms the long narrow
island is shown on each map together with the leriaigeither end (including that at the
location of the Gazebo Bridge to the west) andftiogpath linking them. The 1887 map
shows the Gazebo Bridge and structures to the asaa single entity with a regular
outline and the long channel with a distinct sqdaemd where it meets the bridge
structure. In contrast the maps from 1905 and 182&wv the structure with a more
complicated footprint apparently with distinct cinats to the rear and more like what
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6.3
6.3.1

6.3.2
6.3.3

6.3.4

6.3.5
6.3.6

6.3.7

survives today. This supports physical evidencéaftbsl below) which suggests that at
the time of the 1887 map there may have been & [fogr or platform covering over
much of the two channels to the rear of the stmectu

Description

The Gazebo Bridge and sluices divided intoeaes of interconnected but distinct
elements that are described separately in thisrteploere were two sluice channels, the
southern one of which had a stone bridge overdttanber gazebo superstructure above
this. A softwood timber bridge adjacent to the stame continued the path over the
northern sluice channel. Each of the four walldcwHformed the two sluice channels
were constructed from ashlar stone and they cosdagvidence of the former alteration
and adaptation of the structure. The area was deradito allow the conservation works
in the current project and this enabled a recortbdamade of the stone floor in each
channel.

Main bridge portal facing west

The main sub-structure of the gazebo bridge eamstructed from coursed sandstone
ashlar and it extended with a segmental arch ogemwer the southern sluice channel. It
was a relatively simple structure, ¢.9.5 m long by m deep with the minimum of
decoration or adornment. The arch over the chanasltowards the centre and the stone
face was c.3.1 m tall above the channel floor. Tomdition of the bridge was very poor
prior to the current project with the eastern ssmethe arch dropping slightly and a
large crack continuing up from here to the upperkdef the stonework. In addition the
stones at the base of the north-western cornecbbapsed below the waterline for four
courses and similarly the whole south-western gomeas sliding into the river,
exacerbated by a substantial tree stump which gmpweut of the bridge. The
embankment just to the east of the collapsing sautstern corner of the bridge had been
temporarily propped up by a series of sandbagsupnably filled with concrete, and this
highlights the movement in this area as well aspileviously ad-hoc attempts at repair.
There was a 20th-century concrete path to the seash of the bridge, apparently set on
roughly stacked bricks (not bonded). The bank &edetxtent of the bricks was buried

The surviving stonework in the bridge face welstively featureless but immediately
above the crest of the arch was a stone which ehrtarger than the others in the face.

Timber gazebo or summerhouse

On top of the stone bridge was a softwood lgazehich was open-faced to the west,
allowing views over the river and parkland, as vwasdlto the north and south along the
line of footpath. The character of the timber iggestive of a early 20th-century date of
construction (possibly late TPand it is very unlikely to be an original or gad9th-
century structure. It could of course however hamaced a previous structure and there
must have been some form of rails or parapet teeeside. In parts the gazebo structure
was carefully and attractively detailed but lacknadintenance meant that its condition
was poor, particularly to the base of the postd,iahad an unkempt appearance. Due to
its poor condition it has been entirely replacedthe current work with a replica
structure.

The structure was the same width as the arepeding in the stone bridge below. It had
a pedimented roof to the front (west) with visilflashing, posts to each corner and
curved braces between the posts and wall plate.bfhees to the end walls are semi-
circular and extend between the posts while thedsdo the front are a quarter circle.
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6.3.8

6.3.9

6.3.10

6.3.11

6.3.12
6.3.13

6.3.14

6.3.15

The corner posts are formed from smaller coupledsp@egged together and with simple
vertical bead moulding to the panels. The baseghef posts were found to be
particularly rotten and temporary repairs had beeaghly undertaken with crude

covering boards nailed over.

A softwood latticework balustrade with simpknd rail formerly extended across the full
length of the bridge (both sides) and to the frihe gazebo although large parts of this
had been lost prior to the current recording. Tgusts between the sections of
latticework to the north of the gazebo had pyrainidps and they sat on softwood plates
which projected beyond the face of the wall to eaitte. Curved buttresses from the
outer edge of each cantilevered bearer to the dater of the corresponding post braced
the structure.

The former timber bridge from the gazebo ®rbrth bank was comprised of three main
north-to-south beams and simple boards over thebtapthe boards had been lost,
apparently many years before the current work wadetaken and and temporary
scaffold bridge had been constructed just to tls¢. ea

The rear wall of the gazebo was formed frartiwval matchboarding and at the base it
was secured by simple horizontal bearers immedgidtelthe east. The matchboarding
continued up to the upper edge of the gabled rodfthere was no pediment to this side.
The internal ceiling of the gazebo was also corstd from matchboarding and there
was a simple bench inside against the rear wall.

The floor of the gazebo had a decorativegtesith stone pavers set diagonally to form
a lattice and the panels infilled with concrete grabbles set into the surface. This is
assumed to be contemporary with the gazebo (e@fyc2ntury?) although the rustic
character could suggest and earlier date and time & concrete is different to a cruder
concrete which is used to form the floor surfacéti@ut pebbles) immediately to the
north and south of the gazebo.

Northern wall to river and sluices

The northern wall of the main channel wasnkxt from coursed sandstone ashlar with a
sloped top towards the eastern end. The ashlakbltargely had distinctive tooling
marks with long ridges across the full width of 8tene and short perpendicular ridges at
each end. This type of tooling has been noted nsp# each of the other structures in
the current study including the west side of theb&p Mill Bridge which is strongly
believed to date from 1784. Clearly stones withilsimooling would almost certainly
have been used for long periods and it is not ptessd date this wall to the 1780s but it
does help to draw parallels between structures kanildli up an understanding of the
development of the site. The character of theestarthis wall is also broadly similar to
the original walls at the Island Weir.

The condition of the eastern half of the wadls generally relatively sound but the face
of the western half was bulging significantly, peutarly along the line of a long
horizontal crack caused by a tree root which hateprated and continued between two
courses of stone.

The lower 3-4 courses of the wall, wherea#g been below the water line were covered in
a thick algae and encrustation which obscured thesing and possibly other features
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but above this there were a number of featuresiwprovided evidence of alteration and
change of use.

6.3.16 Towards the centre of the wall was the felight vertical recess from the sluice gates

6.3.17

6.3.18

6.3.19

which remained in-situ until recently (albeit inryepoor condition) and which were
photographically recorded ex-situ on the bank leydide of the weir. The mechanism for
these appeared very similar to the sluice at thkef&bMill Bridge and they may have
been overhauled at the same time. The fragmenésngins from a post survived within
the recessed slot together with some iron fixingggctv secured the base of the post. The
surface of the recessed slot had a rough conaréts tear face. At the top of the slot
there survived the two horizontal bearers whichngea the channel and supported the
tops of the two sluice gates. These timbers appdarbe of probably early 20th-century
in date and it is likely that the sluice was overlled in this period. Approximately 1.3 m
to the east of the main recess slot was anothécakscar (c.2 m tall) from a former post
or feature which had been removed and the slothiguigfilled with brick. This scar
aligns with both a slot in the corresponding sowtddl and a slot from a bearer in the
channel floor (detailed further below) and it magwvé related to a previous set of sluice
gates. However it is possible that this was frotemporary barrier which could have
been inserted to allow the periodic dewateringhef thamber and for maintenance to be
undertaken on the main gates. Clearly the wateddvalso have had to be stopped on the
west side of the structure and there is less obeddlence for this. It is interesting
however that this earlier slot does not respectstbae coursing and it strongly appears
to have been a secondary insertion. Similarly ihdrem this set of gates was clearly
inserted into the floor (detailed below). In casrthe coursing does respect the vertical
slot from the later gates suggesting that this pradably the location of the first set of
gates. Indeed, one of the interesting aspectsi®fhll is the fact that the height of the
coursing is different to either side of this slatdait could not be that the coursing
formerly continued through before the current si@is inserted. It it possible that this
indicates that the whole structure to the eashisfglot is a secondary extension and that
original construction merely comprised the mairdge and little to the rear. This is also
tentatively suggested by a distinction in the clenffoor layout (discussed further
below).

The scar from the earlier (eastern) sluidesgydid not extend up the full height of the
wall, unlike the later one, and above it there isreak in the wall top suggestive of a
former walk-way across the channel. Fragments faarrude, probably mid or later 20th-
century 'Kee Klamp' railing survived within thisdark.

A row of infilled sockets were visible in thall from a former platform which would
have extended across the channel at a height & m2bove the channel bed. It appears
it would have been just above the top of the eadieice gates and would have been at
least 5 m long, extending ¢.3.7 m to the east efdll sluice gates and c.1.3 m to the
west of them. The sockets were regular (27 cnrxtald cm wide and at ¢.80 cm centres)
and the westernmost one had been partly removeithébglot for the secondary sluice
gates. The stone coursing to the west of the sergnsluice gates confirms that the
platform did not continue beyond this point. Thelggts are not integral with the stone
coursing and it strongly appears that they werecoisdary addition, inserted after the
construction of the wall.

As mentioned above there is difference invthg that the Gazebo Bridge is depicted in
the 1887 Ordnance Survey map compared to that 65 Ehd the differences would
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6.3.21

6.3.22

6.3.23

6.3.24

6.3.25

tentatively suggest that the removal of the platfand the replacement of the sluice
gates may have taken place between these gatesedrlier map shows the whole
Gazebo Bridge, including the rear elements, aqglssistructure rather than with open
channels to the east and this may suggest that thas more of a floor over the whole
structure at this date. The physical evidence waldd support a late T%r very early
20th-century date for this work.

At the eastern end of the line of the forplatform there was a larger socket (c.22 cm
wide x 26 cm tall) just below the height of thetfilam and ¢.70 cm beyond the edge of
the main sockets. This socket was also insertedthe pre-existing wall and it is likely
that it was contemporary with the platform formipagrt of a vertical barrier at this end of
the enclosure. The western edge of the socketsalgth a 22 cm wide slot within the
floor, spanning across the channel and half wathepwall there is a void which appears
to be the outlet of a small, simple drain. This mipg leads to a tunnel that extends
several metres into the wall and there it connexis east-west orientated culvert. It is
unlikely that there was another set of sluice gakthis location (particularly because
there are no tall slots in the wall) but there masil have been an iron grill to catch
detritus in the flowing water.

The upper socket would have held a head Iseanring the tops of the iron bars and the
slot in the floor would have held their bases. Tdrain void would have exited
immediately to the west of the grille.

There are also several minor pieces of ecelem this part of the wall (ie to the east of
the sluice gates) from alterations and former us#uding a curved scar which was
probably accidentally caused during the insertionr@emoval of sluice gates. Other
evidence includes several small inserted holesarmply relating to each other and to
similar sockets in the opposite wall, and trunca¢edis from iron bars which it also
appears would have spanned the channel c.70 cneadbeloor level.

At the eastern end of the wall (c.9.2 m frmanrent sluice gates) there is a clear straight
joint between this phase of the construction ardlgiter wall to the channel. The main
walls of the channel extending east beyond thealstructure are lined in a distinctly
different stone to those used in the sluice/brigigacture itself. These channel walls use
a more 'rustic' stone which is suggestive of a onithter 19' century date.

The main archaeological features in the walle concentrated to the east of the sluice
gates and the section to the west was relativedyufeless. It comprised regular stone
coursing and as stated above its condition hadrided¢éed severely in the later 20
century and its face was bulging and coming awagnfthe core of the wall, particularly
either side of a large horizontal crack along arsmg joint caused by tree root
penetration. At the eastern end of this sectioméaiiately adjacent to the slots from the
sluice gates, was a crude walkway constructedendater 20th-century from scaffolding
while at the western end were three softwood jdigts an older timber walkway from
the main Gazebo Bridge to the north bank.

This section of the north wall from the westl to the scar of the earlier removed sluice
gates has been rebuilt in the current project. Whek to dismantle this wall revealed
that it was constructed with much deeper occasibiwiks to anchor the face into the
rubble core wall behind. These 'anchor' blocksevwearery ¢.3-4 m
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6.3.30

6.3.31

6.3.32

The esuthern wall of the north channel (ie the north wall of the bridge's triangular plan
central pier) divided into two distinct element$:the main 3.1 m tall primary stone wall
and at the east end of this a low (70 cm tall)rB.lbng extension constructed from blue
engineering bricks. The blue bricks in this pietemsion were suggestive of a latef"19
or early 20 century date and it may be that they formed pérthe same phase of
alterations as the replacement of the sluice gatessibly undertaken between 1887 and
1905. The blue brickwork was set on a stone plarntd presumably it replaced an earlier
pier which supported the large platform acrossrdse of the structure. The blue brick
pier (and stone footings) extend east as far agdge of the platform indicated by the
joist sockets and by the sill slot in the chanth@bf. The previous pier could have been
from full height stonework but the current east efithe pier does not suggest any break
or alteration and it may be more likely that thesas a timber frame set on a stone plinth.

The features in the main stone wall largeligresponded with the matching evidence in
the north wall of the channel. The south wall hiagl $ame recess and in-situ post from
the main sluice gates and c.1 m to the east ofishike lower scar from the previous
sluice gates which are thought to have been rembetdeen 1887 and 1905. At the
same height as the top of this scar is a line @eljoist sockets from the platform which
spanned over the channels to the rear of the hriflige joists in the eastern part of this
platform would have been supported by the formercstire (probably stone but possibly
a timber structure) on the line of the current duiek pier.

Similarly to the north side of the channdréhwas a break in the wall top, between the
scars of the older and newer sluice gates, fromrmdr removed walkway. This would
have been higher than the larger platform and d@ssumed that it was inserted when the
later sluice gates were added.

The lower part of the wall was obscured wdhst of the former sluice gates by a rough
concrete skim and patches where the face of threestbas been lost. There is however a
cut off bar ¢.70 cm above the floor and just towkest of the brick pier, which matches a
similar stub from a bar in the north wall.

The area to the west of the sluice gates agasn relatively featureless with regular
coursed ashlar and some minor patching. The renmditise timber footbridge survived
to the western end, just to the east of a pointrevtiee line of the wall changes slightly,
and at the base, this corner of the wall had subatly collapsed prior to the current
project.

Thenorth wall of the southern channel (ie the south wall of the central pier) again
contained evidence that corresponded to that invedks of the north channel and suggest
that there was a platform across this area at sa2above floor as well as an earlier set of
sluice gates c.1 m to the east of the later reptece set. The recessed slots from both
sets of former gates had been infilled and rendeked prior to the current project and

there were again two slots in the floor from thés 9f the former sets of sluice gates. A
void was also visible from a former walkway c.2.8bove floor level between the scars
from the two sets of former sluice gates; this walik would have corresponded with a

similar feature over the north channel.

Thesouth wall of the southern channel also incorporated similar evidence to the other
walls relating to the former layout of sluice gatektforms and walkways. This included
a full height infilled scar from the later sluicatgs, a lower scar from the earlier gates,
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6.3.34

6.3.35

6.3.36

6.3.37

6.4
6.4.1

infilled sockets from the former platform and aiaontal void high in the wall from the
walkway between the location of the two phaseduits gate. The lower eastern end of
the wall (c.2.3 m long) is at a different anglethe@ appears to have been rebuilt in the
20th-century with a different type of stone andvyyeeement pointing.

The floor surface of the two channels was formed from stone pavilogks of various
sizes. This extended beneath the bridge and throbghareas of the former sluices
including the full depth of the former rear platio(ie to the end of the blue-brick pier).
There was also a similar area of stone pavingantfof the main bridge (to the west of
it) but this had largely been dislodged prior te tturrent restoration project. There were
some differences in the sizes and layouts of stomgarious areas and this may indicate
different constructional phases. In particular shenes in the eastern and western halves
of both channels appeared to be different to edlcbrsuggesting the possibility that the
eastern halves of both channels were secondarpsates.

Those blocks in the eastern half of the nohinnel were generally c. 50 cm wide by
between 60 cm and 130 cm long and they were otesht@ast to west. In contrast those
blocks in the same channel to the west of the slgates were smaller (on average c.40 x
60 cm) and were orientated north to south. Theestdn the west are also much more
worn than those to the east. In the central ameaind the two phases of sluice gates the
floor has been more disturbed but it is appareat the change in stone type is aligned
with the current (western) sluice gates. The tirgikk which relates to the lower set of
gates to the east is clearly inserted into theepisting stone floor. This sill has an 8cm
deep central socket from a former post betweeridimer gates. The sill from the main
set of gates did not survive and the paving stamesnd it were substantially truncated.

It was noted that the stones in the eastfrektended beneath the blue brick pier and at
the eastern end of this area of stone flooringetliea trench for a former sill. This would
have been at the eastern end of the former platbwen the sluice gates.

It is interesting to note that there wassimit hole in the floor of the northern channel,
close to the centre line and c¢.60 cm to the weth®imain sluice gates.

The blocks in the western half of the southehannel (beneath the bridge) were
orientated east-to-west and are largely ¢.50 cm3bycm although there was some
variation in size and in a number of areas therfidabs had been previously removed or
were obscured. There was particularly a void towatee centre in the area where the
sluice gates had been removed and part of thisladabeen replaced by brick pavers.
The timber sill to the east survived in-situ frohe tformer lower gates and similarly to
the corresponding feature in the north channel tiniber had a central mortice which
would have held the former central post. This sils clearly inserted into the pre-
existing layout of stone paving slabs. The stonthis area is regular and less worn than
that beneath the bridge to the west. They varside from ¢.70 crto ¢.65 cm x 35 cm
and at the eastern end there is a trench for aefiotimber sill at the eastern end of the
former platform.

Conclusion

The Gazebo Bridge is an attractive and intex@structure which is Grade 1l listed and
enhances the river landscape at Stoneleigh.
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6.4.2

6.4.3

6.4.4

6.4.5

6.4.6

The list description suggests a date of c.1®t3he structure, based on a design by
Repton, and although it is not known how specuéathat claim is it does appear from
the stonework that an earlier 19th-century dateaistruction for the main bridge is
likely. The current investigation has identifiedrious pieces of evidence to suggest a
number of phases of alteration, including the gmbti that the original structure was
merely the depth of the stone bridge itself and thavas then considerably extended
eastwards with a later structure. This is partlggasted by distinctions in the stone
flooring between east and west but also some dififegs in the stone coursing either side
of the sluice gates.

Other evidence also suggests that there wasefty a large floor or platform which
would have covered over the rear parts of the sgiracPhysical evidence shows that this
was a secondary insertion, possibly undertakehemtid 19' century (by Nesfield?) and
map evidence suggests it was dismantled sometirtveeba 1887 and 1905. There is
also evidence for a slightly lower set of gatesasreach channel c.1 m to the east of the
current set of sluice gates. The lower gates wesecandary insertion into the wall but
the current (later) gates used what appears to Ibeee primary slots in the wall. It may
also be that these gates were not functional slgates but were instead to allow the
temporary dewatering of the chamber and maintenamdee carried out on the main
gates.

The timberwork in the gazebo structure dog¢sppear to be particularly old and is more
suggestive of an early 2€entury date (or possibly late )Qather than the mid or early
19" century. The stonework in the bridge itself howewd main side walls, is more
suggestive of a late T&r early 19 century date, similar to that in the Island Weida
West Park Weir with distinctive tooling marks totbhdloor and walls. It may be that
there was an earlier structure on top of the bribigiethe current timber frame strongly
appears to be a secondary addition.

It is interesting to note an estimate in then8leigh accounts for various works including
a bridge over the new cut from 1779 and carperstecsunts for floodgates from 1781. It
is uncertain if the estimate for the bridge wasraveut that had already been made or
for a proposed cut but it could be that this isajgzbridge and that the cut is the bypass
channel. As outlined above there is also evidencguggest that may have been a weir
constructed in this period in the area of the Idl&feir so this would correspond with the
possible necessity to create the bypass channel.

It is also interesting to note that once #iarid Weir had been fully rebuilt and the water
level raised the Gazebo Bridge appeared slighthkweawd and low in the water
suggesting the possibility that when it was firshstructed the usual water level was
lower. This would correspond with the possibilityat the bridge pre-dated the Island
Weir and Repton's creation of the lake.

7 THe AsBey MiLL BRrIiDGE

7.1
7.1.1

I ntroduction

The Abbey Mill Bridge is a Grade Il listed lling (see Appendix B) located to the
south-west of the Abbey. Masonry repairs to theldei were included in the original
scheme of archaeological works but due to the ueebeplly complex works required by
the other structures these repairs to the bridge westponed to a later phase. The only
conservation works undertaken to the Abbey Milldge were the replacement of the

© Oxford Archaeology Page 26 of 41 February 2013



Stoneleigh Abbey River Landscape Building Recording and investigation

7.1.2

7.2
7.2.1

7.2.2
7.2.3

7.2.4

7.2.5

sluice gates on the west side. These gates hadopstyw been lost and the timber

structure largely collapsed. As the planned repairks have not been undertaken to the
Abbey Mill Bridge the associated recording has bkmited. Photographs were taken of
the bridge and descriptive observations made batvitigs of the stonework. Scaled
record drawings were made of the fragmentary resnah the timber sluice gate

structure.

The Abbey Mill Bridge is a Grade Il listed laling (see Appendix B).

Historical background

The bridge is assumed to date from 1704, showenclear date stone between the arches
on the east face, and a similar structure is shawWilke's South Prospect of Stoneleigh
Abbey from 1749. The South Prospect is supported lmap of Stoneleigh Abbey, also
from 1749 and when considering the two pieces aflence together we can map the
layout of structures around the Abbey Mill.

In 1749 the route of the main channel betw&enWest Park Weir and the Abbey Mill
Bridge appears to have been little different ta tharviving today and the map shows
that it divided Floodgate Meadows to the south fnehat appears to have been paddocks
to the north. On the 1749 map the channel is shimwsplit in two, immediately to the
west of the current location of the Abbey Mill Bge, with one channel continuing north-
east and then curving around the south front of ltbese, and the other channel
continuing south-east for a short distance befarming parallel with the other channel
and rejoining it to the south-east of the housee Glirrent bridge crosses over what was
the southern of the two channels, onto was andstard then there was a second bridge
which crossed over the northern channel. This setoiige and the northern of the two
channels no longer survive .Immediately to the wafsthe northern bridge the map
shows a broadly square plan building which mustehaeen the dovecote also shown on
the South Prospect drawing and to the east ofbitdige there was a group of structures
apparently constructed over the northern channeés& structures must have been the
mill itself although they no longer survive. Imniakly to the east of the southern
(surviving) bridge the 1749 map shows another stinecby the waters edge but this also
no longer survives. Immediately to the west of soeithern bridge there is a further
feature shown and this was presumably a platforer e sluice gates similar to the one
which survived in a very fragmentary state priothie current repair works. The one in
the current works was clearly later in date thanrttid 18' century however.

Mathias Baker's survey plan of Stoneleigh filbf66 shows a similar layout to the 1749
plan with regard to this area while Repton's RedlBappears to show a single larger
bridge, and no mill buildings, which it was presumyaintended would replace the
previous layout. This larger bridge which would édermed part of the key approach to
the house from the south was not constructed. Awsildd above Repton's wider
proposals for the riverine landscape to the sofitth@ house were largely implemented
however and this would have included the removaltfe culverting) of the distinct
northern channel together show on 18th-century nagsther with the mill which was
located on it.

The 1887 25 inch OS map confirms that the nallonger survives and that there is no
longer a visible northern channel. It does howeshaw a small boat house on the south
bank of the surviving channel immediately to thestvef the Abbey Mill Bridge. The
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7.2.6

7.3
7.3.1

7.3.2
7.3.3

7.3.4

7.3.5

7.3.6
7.3.7

same boat house is also shown on the 1905 and @$2mhaps but it appears to have
been lost by the map of 1961-71.

There are at least two bills of interest friva Stoneleigh archive dated 1784 and 1785
which appear to relate to the widening of this geiddiscussed further below).

Description

The Abbey Mill Bridge is a sluice, with bridgeer, in which the sluice had clearly not
functioned for many years (or decades) prior todheent works. There was a timber
platform over the western side of the channel,@fato the former sluice gates, but this
had largely collapsed and was heavily overgrown.

The Bridge

The Abbey Mill Bridge is a plain structure piag over this branch of the River Avon
with a 4.4 m wide deck and ashlar parapet walksatth side which fan out to each end of
the bridge. There were sluice gates on the west @dtailed further below) while the
east side forms an attractive prominent face witlemtral buttressed pier and two arches
through which the water flows. This eastern facailddchave been visible from some
distance and would have been an important featutbd early 19th-century landscape
although it likely that its prominence in its cumteform (prior to the current
conservation) has been increased by the lower vietetl in the lake to the south of the
house. Since the breaching of the Island Weih& hid 20 century there has been a
lower water level across this area and this hasased the cascade effect on the eastern
side of the Abbey Mill Bridge.

On the eastern face of the central buttreasdiste stone showing 1704 and although it is
likely that there was an older bridge in this vigmthis must be the date of the main
current structure. However, it is interesting tmenthat the stonework in the two faces
(and parapets) of the bridge are slightly differantl evidence suggests that the bridge
was widened after its initial construction. Thenss to the east (ie the wall which
includes the 1704 date) show no clear tooling maoktheir face whereas those to the
west parapet almost all have the distinctive tapliound on other structures including
the West Park Weir. This distinctive tooling haadatransverse stripes across the stone
for most of its length but then shorter longitudist&ripes at each end. In addition the
coping on the two sides is a slightly differentdigi (20 cm to west, 28 cm to east) and
whereas on the west side the parapet is formed thoee larger blocks (average 24 cm
tall) on the east side it is formed from four slmablocks (average 16 cm tall).

This corresponds well with at least two biftsm the Stoneleigh archive from 1784 and
1785 relating to works to enlarge the bridge by thid. Presumably the bridge was
widened in 1784/5 by adding a western extensioth¢oexisting (1704) eastern bridge.
This is of wider interest due to the presumed 174308es having the distinctive tooling
marks which are also found at other structures,taadaccounts suggest that other works
to weirs were undertaken in the 1780s.

Sluice gates and timber platform

When the current structure at Abbey Mill Bedgas constructed it would have formed a
sluice to control the water flow to the adjacenll.ndis stated above it has not operated as
a functioning sluice for many years and the gdtesselves had been entirely lost long
before the current project. However, fragmentssdidvive from the supporting structure,
as well as an adjacent platform over the chanmelyes do have a good understanding of
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7.3.8

7.3.9

7.3.10

7.3.11

7.3.12
7.3.13

7.3.14

the structure's form. The remains were removatiéncurrent works and a drawn record
made of them ex-situ.

The remains of the sluice gates structure Hpaniver channel (6.75 m at this point) and
comprise three fixed, free-standing timber postes§fbly Baltic pine) together with a
further similar post recessed within each riverlwihch of the five posts is ¢.50 cm
deep by ¢.20 cm wide and at the front edge of eachbated to both sides to allow the
former gates to butt-up against the post. Fouheffive posts are heavily worn but the
northernmost one, which would have been withinaese is remarkably well preserved,
probably having been sunken within mud, and froim tie know the depth of the posts.
Two of the other posts survives for approximatéhee quarters of their full length while
little survives from the final two. At their basiee posts would have been tenoned into a
sill beam although this lower section only surviveshe northern post. Each of the posts
is bolted to a pair of head beams which are sé& cr2 apart from each other and would
have spanned above the river with each post piogect20 cm above it. The front head
beam is set on a curved bracket on the face gbakewnhile the larger rear beam is set on
a ledge created towards the top of the main posts.

There would have been four sluice gates, atl@nveach of the openings between the
five fixed posts, and they would have been raisedowered on a cast iron rachet

mechanism set on the two head beams. Each gafgrisecha spine post with a series of
cast-iron teeth in the rear which would have endagith the rachet fixed to the top of

the two head beams. Poles to lever the gates upl@nd would have been inserted into
the mechanism. Thus the gates would slide up amchdmetween the two head beams
and within the rebates at the sides of the maiadfiposts. When the gates were down
(closed) they would have been pushed against treted main posts.

The platform or deck across the river fromemhthe sluice gates would have been
operated was c.2.5 m deep and was located betvineegates and the western bridge
portal. It was supported by two I-section stee$i®i(20 cm tall) which spanned the river
channel and had clearly been inserted into theestork within the two river banks. The
steel joists support either end of five east totiesber binders (21 cm x 15 cm) together
with seven north to south common joists (13 x 8.cAf)ove the common joists were
simple boards although barely any of these surviwbeén the current recording was
undertaken. The binders are set on small padspafithe steel joists.

The structure supporting the deck was straltjuindependent from the sluice gates so it
may be the two elements were not contemporary witbh other. They do however
appear to be of similar date and were probably tcocted in the earlier 20century. As
referred to elsewhere the water level can risg vapidly around Stoneleigh, generating
considerable forces on structures along the riveritis likely that features such as the
sluice gates at Abbey Mill Bridge would have hadbwreplaced regularly. The deck
was clearly structurally independent from the westce of the bridge and is clearly
later than it.

River walls and wing walls adjacent to the bridge
To the west of the bridge both banks of tkrerrare of ashlar stonework for several
metres as the channel approaches the bridge alhmargs are obscured by vegetation.

The main feature on the northern river bark $emi circular arched portal to a culvert or
tunnel which appears primary with this section aflivg18" or 19th-century?). The portal
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7.3.15

7.3.16

now has a secondary, possibly late 19th-centuny guolle (removed in current works)
crudely fixed over it to stop debris entering thmrtel but the opening has a rebate
around the full arch presumably from a primary gateyrille which was flush with the
main wall. The tunnel is now blocked c.1m behind #ntrance so it difficult to know
where it leads but it strongly appears to extend imorth-north-west orientation rather
than forming an overflow channel extending eastwansund the sluice gates. However
it may be that it connects with further culvertsiethdo extend eastwards and both the
current grille and the rebate from a possible farge@te would suggest that water was
flowing into this tunnel rather than from the tuhivgo the channel by the sluice gates.

On the southern bank to the west of the brithg main ashlar wall extends c. 6 m to a
point where there is a clear step and to the weshie the channel continues with a
slightly different alignment. (WSW rather than ditlg W). The stonework to either side
of this step appears to be from different phaseas ians interesting to note that the
western edge of the boathouse shown on the 188m&)Sis aligned with a step such as
this. The step also marks the western edge ofreqitatform on the bank with a curved
coping. The exact form of this platform is somewblascured but it is 2.8 m wide (E-W)
and 2.1 m deep (N-S).

The walls flanking the channel to the eadt¢ sif the bridge are of ashlar and there are
various cracks or substantial areas of missingesto®n the north bank the channel fans
gently out towards the lake whereas on the soulth isitakes two clear steps to form the
wider channel. There is a substantial area whegestbnework on the south side has
collapsed and it appears that this was due to @ fiomber bearer having been built into
the wall but rotting

8 THe Lake/River anD DiversioN CHANNEL WATCHING BRIEF

8.1
8.1.1

8.2
8.2.1

8.2.2

I ntroduction

The current project has included an intermitegchaeological watching brief undertaken
during extensive ground works associated with grereation of the lake to the south of
the house and also during the excavation of a lamgmnel which diverted the river to
the south of its usual course. This channel allotieddewatering of the area around the
Island Weir and Gazebo Bridge and the conservatfdhese structures.

Diversion channel

The diversion channel took the river from anpto the south-east of the house (a short
distance to the east of the surviving rump of thremier ham island) and diverted it in a

arc across the field to the south of the IslandrWedam was built across the river at the
mouth of the new channel to allow the area aroledsland Weir and Gazebo Bridge to

be fully de-watered. The channel was almost 15@mg land re-connected with the main

river well to the east of the Island Weir.

The central part of the channel was excavaied depth of 3 m and the sides of the
channel were stepped and sloped so the width okxicavation increased towards the
surface. Approximately 30-40 cm of top soil waspsted for a width of ¢.20 m and then
below this the top of the main excavation was aril@ide.
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8.2.3

8.3
8.3.1

8.3.2

The nature of the excavated area was veryistens and there were no archaeological
remains exposed other than an ex-situ concretepsturd a small patch of dumped hard
core. The main channel (the uppermost 2.5 m) wa®wan clay then below this towards

the base was a blue clay (largely hidden by watémlrtially dredged out) and then at

the base of the channel was gravel.

L ake/River watching brief

The southern bank of the river was re-profdedt passed the house to re-create the lake
which was a key element of the Repton proposaladdition the lake was dredged to
remove silt.

The re-profiling work included clearing treasd vegetation and then slightly pulling

back the bank. There was very little real excawataind the work largely comprised

scraping the surface. No archaeological remainistefest were exposed. There was a
brownish soil towards the surface and a reddishéditown soil beneath this. There

were a number of isolated 20th-century bricks andhlslumps of dumped concrete

mixed into the soil but no features of interest.

9 C(ConcLusioN

9.11

9.1.2

9.1.3

9.14

Stoneleigh Abbey is a site of considerabléohis significance and one of the key areas
of interest is its river landscape to the south teé house and particularly the
improvements made during the™®8entury by Humphry Repton and other landscape
designers.

This river landscape was severely degradelddkyof maintenance and major structural
failures during the 20 century but it has now been magnificently restotleugh a
major programme of conservation works. This cores@om has principally focused on a
series of weirs (West Park Weir and Island Weirddes and sluices and this has allowed
the recreation of a large lake to the south offtbese which had been one of Repton's
main proposals for the site but which had returtedbeing a silted-up set of narrow
channels. Due to the state of dilapidation of tinectures and the need to return them to
a functional state, the conservation programmenieasssitated a high level of rebuilding
but this has been based closely on historical jplextiefrom the structures dismantled.

The conservation has included a programmerafagological recording and this has
been of value in a number of ways. Firstly it hesvided a detailed record of the form of
these structures prior to their recent large-sa@storation and partial rebuilding.
Secondly the fact that the work was undertakerhénform of an intermittent watching
brief over the course of many months means thaetisea record of the 2011 restoration
works themselves which now form part of the ongoawplution of this nationally
important site. Thirdly the investigation has enteth understanding of the construction
and chronology of these features. To some exteniitrks have confirmed the previous
assumptions about the date of the structures bue darther clarity and confidence has
been provided to some of the dates. This has beewided by both the physical
investigation of the structures and an assessnfettiecaccounts held in the Stoneleigh
Abbey Archive.

The Abbey Mill Bridge is shown from a daterstdo have been constructed in 1704 but
the western half of the structure is of slightlyfelient stonework and the bridge must
have been widened, almost certainly in 1784/5 wthenre are two accounts in the archive
relating to the widening of the bridge by the mihis is of interest both for what it
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9.1.5

9.1.6

9.1.7

shows about the bridge itself but also because sarylar stonework to that in the

western (1784/5) side of the bridge is also foundtlie West Park Weir and other
structures. This also corresponds with other lailid accounts in the archives to work on
weirs from the 1780s.

The West Park Weir is believed to pre-datek@él map of 1749, but that it was probably
a relatively new structure at this date, and thaas clearly undergone several phases of
repair and partial rebuilding. This may have indddwork in the 1780s (possibly
suggested by evidence in the accounts) and ddfiriiteluded work from 1883 when a
major section of wall was rebuilt. It is interegtito note that each of these dates (pre-
1749, 1883 and 1780s) are within periods when fiigtieg accounts of the development
of the Stoneleigh landscape suggest that onlyivelgtmodest improvement works were
being undertaken.

The Island Weir is thought to have been coestd in the early T9century under
Repton when the water level was raised and theatike lake was created. However the
current project has exposed a large lower spilM@ayned from distinctly different
stonework to the upper structure and evidence sigdkat may survive from an earlier
weir. This could be the 'new weir across the Rikeon at Stoneleigh Abbey' which is
referred to in a invoice/account from 1785. Altiwely it is possible that the lower
spillway is part of Repton's weir and the main damactually a later addition. The
stonework in the main weir is more suggestive okarlier 19 century date rather than
one from later in the century but there is the pmkty that it is from a later phase such
as from Nesfield's work.

The Gazebo bridge is a stone built structurera/the main stonework is suggestive of a
later 18" or early 19 century date with a later timber superstructurectvrappears
clearly later, possibly added in the early"2@ntury. There are accounts in the Stoneleigh
archives of an estimate for a bridge over a new(iculL779) and carpenters works to a
set of floodgates (from 1781) so it may be thatlihdge was constructed in this period.
However, there is also evidence to suggest thastiiueture to the rear of the bridge was
a later addition (particularly differences in tHedr to each side) and the structure may
have been enlarged in the mid™1€entury. Evidence strongly suggests that there was
formerly a large platform across the rear of theidtire, possibly a large enclosed
building to the rear over the two channels and thist was removed between 1887 and
1905.

Oxford Archaeology
February 2013
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AprpPeEnDIX B. LisTeD BuiLbing DEscRrIPTIONS

SUMMERHOUSE AND SLUICES AT WEST END OF ISLAND, 240ETRES SOUTH-EAST OF
ABBEY

STONELEIGH

List entry Number: 1096007

Grade: Il

Date first listed: 26-Nov-2002

SP32067106 Summerhouse and sluices at west eslduadj 240m south-east of Abbey 1827/0/10017 Il
Sluices and summerhouse. Built c1813 for Thomakawores Henry Leigh, and based on a design by
Humphrey Repton. Repaired late C20 and early C&klak and timber. The building comprises ashlar
walling carrying a walkway. Slightly convex on thpstream side, with central round-arched opening
through which water flows freely. To the left, aipl opening with the remains of double sluices aod/
with iron fittings. Above the central opening, aaden summerhouse in Classical style, with fluted
pilasters, pedimented gable and on 3 sides, astedropenings giving the impression of round arches
Fronting and flanking the summerhouse, a woodemalel-lattice railing. INTERIOR: The
summerhouse contains a wooden bench, and is fleatbgebbles set in diamond patterns.

1827/0/10028 Mill Bridge c200 metres south-weghefAbbey
Stoneleigh Date first listed: 26-Nov-2002
Grade Il

Bridge and sluices. Bridge dated 1704, with C1&ehiand alterations. Ashlar and wood, with iron
fittings. 2 round arches with cascades, dividea logntral stepped buttress on the downstream side.
Splayed balustrade walls with rounded coping. @nuipstream side, 4 sluices, the gates now missing.
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AprpPenDIX C. SonNeLEIGH ABBEY: ReGIsTERED ParRk AND GARDEN DESCRIPTION

Name: STONELEIGH ABBEY
Registered Park and Garden entry Number: 1000377

Details
Early C19 gardens and park for which Humphry Repiarduced a Red Book in 1809, together with a C17
detached deer park which was also landscaped igatthg C19.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

Stoneleigh Abbey, a Cistercian foundation, was ftmehin 1154. At the Dissolution it was purchased by
Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk. In the mid C1@/és let to a farmer, Thomas Dadley, who lived hroase
on the site of the present east range, which imatps remains of the monastic buildings. In 15@lestate
was sold to two London merchants, Sir Rowland &tilll Sir Thomas Leigh, who was married to Hill's
daughter and heiress. At Sir Thomas' death in Bi@fheleigh passed to his middle son, Thomas, who wa
created a baronet in 1611. Sir Thomas rebuilt trehrand east ranges of the house ¢ 1603 and tniswas
completed by his grandson, another Sir Thomas L @itpo inherited in 1626 and was created Baron L&igh
1643. The third Lord Leigh, who inherited in 17Y@ited Italy in 1711, and on his return in 1714,
commissioned alterations to the house. Work coatinunder the fourth Lord Leigh who died in 174%yiag
a son who was still a minor. Edward, fifth Lord gkj came of age in 1763, and began an ambitious
programme of improvements which are shown on a (1@66-7) by Matthias Baker. Lord Leigh lapsed into
insanity in 1767, and was confined at Stoneleigtil bis death in 1786. He was succeeded by hissgpin
sister, the Hon Mary Leigh, a reclusive lady whadmanly modest changes to the park. At her deati8@6,
Mary Leigh left Stoneleigh to her relative, Jame=nky Leigh of Adlestrop, Gloucestershire (qv), dire
descendent of the eldest son of the first Sir Trohsagh (d 1571), with a life interest to his undlee Rev
Thomas Leigh, also of Adlestrop. When the Rev Thohmeard of his inheritance, his cousin Cassandséefu
and her daughter, the novelist Jane Austen, waygngt with him; together they visited StoneleightsM
Austen described the grounds with 'the Avon neahttuse amidst green meadows bounded by large and
beautiful woods full of delightful walks' (quotexd Batey and Lambert 1990). In 1808, the Rev Tholedgh
invited Humphry Repton (1752-1818), who had presipwvorked for him at Adlestrop, to visit Stoneleig
and make recommendations for the improvement oésitate. These were presented in 1809 in a largeafo
Red Book, with proposals laid out in the manneseferal artists including Claude, Watteau and Ragtsd
The architectural elements of Repton's scheme besr attributed to his son, John Adey Repton (11/8€0)
(Parklands 1997). Repton's work at Stoneleigh wasvk to Jane Austen, and informed her novel Malusfie
Park (1814) (Batey and Lambert 1990; Batey 1996ptBn continued to work at Stoneleigh until thetld e
the Rev Thomas Leigh in 1813, but his commissios ma@t continued under James Henry Leigh. Instead,
improvements in a picturesque style continued théo1830s, with advice from the Leamington archi@&
Smith.

James Henry Leigh died in 1823, and was succeeglagsison, Chandos, created Baron Leigh of Stoglelei
in 1839; his widowed mother remained actively iveal in the management of the estate until her death
1843. Chandos Leigh died in 1850, and was succeasiedcond Lord Leigh by his son, William HenrytHa
mid C19 formal terraced gardens were laid out éodbsign of W A Nesfield (1793-1881) which providbd
setting for a visit by Queen Victoria and Princééidt in 1858. In the late C19 and early C20 thd pad
gardens were widely described (CL 1899, 1901, 190 third Lord Leigh succeeded in 1905, and died
childless in 1938, when the estate passed to pisaeve the fifth Lord Leigh. In the 1930s Percy Céh@31-
1976) was commissioned to alter the formal terrayggedens. During the Second World War a temporary
hospital was established in the Deer Park, andatyial experiments were carried out. After the tiee
Deer Park was sold to Massey Ferguson Ltd, andeihatte C20 part of the Deer Park was developedgesf
course. In 1963 an area of the New Park northeftibey was leased to the Royal Agricultural Sgoodt
England for use as a permanent show ground. Firaded the west range of the Abbey in 1960, but
following repair the house continued to be occugogdhe Leigh family until 1992. Stoneleigh Abbepsv
vested in the Stoneleigh Abbey Preservation Tryushe sixth Lord Leigh in 1988, while in 1993 thbldey
and immediate grounds were transferred to the &igeAbbey Trust. A major programme of restorathas
been undertaken in the house and grounds from 1997.
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DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING Stoneleigh Abbey is situated ¢ 5.5km
north of Royal Leamington Spa and ¢ 2.5km eastexfikvorth. The A444 road passes from south to north
through the site separating the Deer Park fromititeey and New Park to the west. The ¢ 365ha site
comprises some 7ha of gardens and pleasure gradjatsent to the Abbey, ¢ 213ha of parkland and
ornamental plantations, and ¢ 145ha in the Deét ®ahe north-east of the A444 road. The New Rartke
west of the Ad444 road is bounded to the north leyNlational Agricultural Centre and to the north-wmsthe
B4115 road. The west boundary is formed by the@&e A46 road, while to the south the New Park iadjo
agricultural land and to the south-east the bouniaiormed by the A444 road. The ornamental laagsc
formerly extended west to Glasshouse Spinney ¢ 386st of the mid C20 A46 road but this land (owgdite
site here registered) has been developed witfO2@eplaying fields. The Deer Park is bounded tosthath by
a minor road, Stareton Lane, and by domestic ptiggan the hamlet of Stareton, while to the east @orth
the boundary is formed by Coventry Road. This rigazhrried across the River Avon on the early Clidu@
Bridge (listed grade 1), which features in viewsrh within the park. The west boundary is formedhmy
A444 Stoneleigh Road. The east, north and north-la@sndaries of the Deer Park are marked by lat C2
timber pales which replace earlier park paling ttades of boundary ditches also survive. The Riwen
flows in an S-shaped course from east to southugirdhe New Park, while the River Sowe enters itiee s
from the north, joining the River Avon ¢ 1.3km riegast of the Abbey. The New Park is generallylleve
adjoining the Avon, but to the south of the riiee ground rises steeply within woodland known as Ghove.
There are significant views north from The Groveoas the park to the Abbey, the bridge and the west
Grecian lodges which were refined by Repton inghdy C19. There are also views to the south-eabt a
south from a shrubbery at the south-east end ofGrbee, which encompass agricultural land southraf
Grove and ornamental woodland, Bericote Wood, ¢ostiuth-east of the site. The River Avon flows from
north-east to south-west through the Deer Park antas of level ground to the east and south-eadt,
wooded slopes to the north and south-west.

ENTRANCESAND APPROACHES Stoneleigh Abbey is approached from the B4115 todble west. The
entrance is marked by a pair of single-storey,estoro-classical lodges, known as the Grecian Lo(gted
grade II), which each comprise a square block sunteal by a shallow pitched roof, with an inner edrivay
facing the drive. The architect of the lodges iknown: Repton's plan (1809) which included a raoigealf-
timbered cottages on the west side of the road sifgpthe entrance, was not implemented, and nessickd
designs by William Porden produced in 1813 do motespond to the lodges as built. The entrancesléaen
avenue of limes which lines a tarmac drive extegaii320m south-east across the park to cross ther Ri
Avon on a bridge (listed grade 11*) comprising adeicentral arch crossing the river, flanked byia pfa
smaller arches which are in turn flanked by pairarohed niches set in rusticated stonework. Tidgbr
known as the 'Grecian' or 'Rennie’ Bridge, wasgihesi in 1812 by John Rennie, and was completed 4.18
Repton's proposal for a triple-arched stone britgdelled on that at Llanwrst (Red Book) was not
implemented. Beyond the bridge, the drive contiremsgh-east through an avenue of limes for ¢ 35m t
approach the Abbey from the north-west. The driagsps beneath the mid C14 Abbey Gatehouse (lisheie g
1) which comprises a gabled entrance arch to thet aed a two-storey wing to the east, and swe&@src
south-east to the north-west corner of the wegjeaf late C20 drive leads north parallel to thetimoange,
giving access to parking areas and garages ¢ 5@im afcthe house. To the west of the Gatehousedatecar
parks enclosed by hedges give access to a fuete€CP0 drive which leads to the west facade ohthese.
East of the Gatehouse, the drive gives acces®tdutior-gothic stables and riding school (all tistgade 11*)
¢ 100m north-east of the Abbey which were built&15(20 to the design of C S Smith. The stablesrigliuly
school are now (2000) being converted to commeusal The west approach was developed in the €a8y
following Repton's advice in 1809. As implementid;, west drive follows a more direct route to tloeti of
the serpentine course advocated by Repton. The dssumed its final form in 1814 when a public road
crossing the park from north to south ¢ 600m wégt®Abbey was diverted to the line of the B41a&d.

The west drive continues west of the B4115 roadnéoly leading ¢ 1km south-west through Thickthorn
Wood, a C19 ornamental plantation, to join the Ad&2d south-east of Kenilworth. The drive is today
truncated by the late C20 A46 road which passdsimihe western boundary of the plantation, andiges in
part as a track and in part as a footpath leadirkgnhilworth. Some 1.3km south-west of the Abbey diive
is carried over a minor road, Rocky Lane, on alyeat9 single-arched, rusticated stone bridgegigrade
I). To the north of the bridge and on a level witle drive stands an early C19 single-storey lodigés drive
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was developed by James Henry Leigh after 1813.

A further drive approaches the Abbey from the Adddd to the south-east, the entrance being manked b
single-storey early C19 stone lodge known as Margde (listed grade Il). The tarmac drive exten89@m
north-west through an irregularly spaced avenuaatiire oaks, and is separated by hedges from tliensh
Agricultural Centre to the north, and meadows, sofmehich are used as occasional car parks, tsdhéh.
The C18 Kennels and associated cottage (all Igtade 11) immediately south of Mary Lodge and thieal
have been converted in the late C20 to residemsia and substantial detached late C20 housedkave
constructed in the adjoining spinney. Planning pesian for further residential development has bgramted
(2000) for The Cunnery, a meadow adjoining thels@atst drive ¢ 300m south-east of the Abbey. Sdslen2
south-east of the Abbey the drive passes northeoHome Farm, the buildings of which have receindgn
converted to residential use. The drive sweepsrant north-west round the north side of the s&lttereach
the entrance to the stable court and the Abbeyl®ase. Before the early C19, the south-east appnoas
the principal access to Stoneleigh Abbey.

The east or London Drive which formerly approacttedAbbey through the Deer Park is now disused. The
entrance to the Deer Park is marked by Tantara ¢,oalgo known as Bubbenhall or London Lodge (listed
grade 1), an early C19, stone, gabled, gothiccstme built to the design of C S Smith in 1818. Tddge is
today set in late C20 domestic gardens separatedtfie park by conifer hedges and fences. The drive
surviving partly as a track marked by the remaingroavenue of mature oaks, extends ¢ 400m wesi-sou
west through the park on a ridge of high groundhwiews north across the River Avon to the Deeep&'s
Lodge. The course of the drive is interrupted keylthildings of the late C20 business centre. Thedr
formerly continued for ¢ 1km south-west through plaek before crossing the A444 road adjacent to Eas
Lodge (listed grade II), a single-storey, early Giéne lodge constructed in a Tudor-gothic stykgieed by
C S Smith. From East Lodge the drive swept west f@50m across New Park to reach the stables ahdyAb
This latter section of drive, with the exceptionadiinal ¢ 80m, is today used as one of the pradcdwenues in
the National Agricultural Centre show ground (odésthe site here registered). The east drive wasowed
and extended from an existing route by James Heegigh in the early C19.

Two further early C19 lodges mark points of acdesdbe Deer Park. North Lodge (listed grade lIhd&
adjacent to an entrance from Coventry Road to ¢éimthnopposite a minor road leading to Bagintore $tone
lodge, designed ¢ 1820 by C S Smith, comprisesglesstorey and attic and is built in a pictures@udor-
gothic style with ornamental bargeboards and gatalealdes. To the south, Stareton Lodge, also kraswvn
Park Lodge and The Beehive, stands immediateljagavest of a gate which today leads into the grewid
the late C20 business centre, but which formedytdea footpath (OS 1886). Stareton Lodge compases
single storey and attic with a half-octagon baghe south incorporating the front door and a siaitletian
window set in the roof; the lodge is constructethiick which was originally limewashed (Parklan@91). A
lithograph of 1825 shows the lodge with a thatctwef and a rustic verandah supported on tree-tpiltdes;
these do not survive, and the house has been fedragth C20 shingles. The design of Stareton Lodag
been attributed to Repton (Parklands 1997).

PRINCIPAL BUILDING Stoneleigh Abbey (listed grade 1) stands on aterto the north and east of the
River Avon. The mansion incorporates remains ofste€cian abbey founded in 1154. The house congrise
four ranges built around a central court, rougldgresponding to the monastic cloister; the norttgeaof the
house is built on the site of the south aisle efahbey church. The north range, containing the gadlery,
and the east range, formerly containing officegewebuilt in the early C17 and today (2000) regables
and mullion and transom windows. The north rangs @réginally entered by a double staircase leathrg
door on the first floor. The staircase protectesnall grotto which was praised by Repton (1809% Th
staircase was removed and replaced by the 'GotiiehPoy C S Smith in 1836. The west range wasiltebu
between 1714 and 1726 in a monumental Classidal lsyyFrancis Smith of Warwick. The west range metu
to the north and south for four bays, which arelafner construction. The west range contains €2tl§ state
apartments with significant rococo interiors creldtetween 1726 and ¢ 1765. In 1809 Repton propised
construction of a central portico but this was adopted. The south range comprises the four-bayref the
west range, a recessed central section, and ®afiea hip-roofed late C17 kitchen. Repton prop¢$8d9)
the addition of a loggia, conservatory and firsifl colonnade but again these were not implemeittesl.
west range was damaged by fire in 1960, but wasesjkently restored. The house is currently theestiloff a
major programme of works which includes the vettitigision of the house into apartments, and the
restoration of the state apartments.
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GARDENSAND PLEASURE GROUNDS The formal terraces and informal pleasure grodiedsrincipally
to the north, west and south of the Abbey. Thereénburt of the Abbey is laid out with a late G2t
garden. To the north of the house an approximaésiangular area is laid out with lawns plantecwit
specimen trees. This area is bounded to the ngréhdbone wall screened by mature evergreen shirybbée
C20 garages have been built adjacent to this Wha#.garden is separated from the drive to the tegbung
yew hedges, while a drive, approximately followthg course of a C19 drive (OS 1886), sweeps franthso
west to north-east through the garden. The nonttiegawas described by Repton as the Bowling Green
Garden (1809), and corresponds to a walled en@ashuwwn on plans of 1749 and 1766, the garden gowip
the site of the monastic church. To the north-efgte Bowling Green Garden a pair of elaboratéye2i 8
wrought-iron gates surmounted by an overthrow dointg a coronet and monogram (all listed gradéeidd
to the drive west of the stables. The gates arpastgd on rebuilt square brick piers surmounte€h§ lead
urns (all listed grade II). A drive leads southrfrthe gates to the service quarters south-eakedilibey.
Some 50m south of the gates the drive passes thiamugarly C19, stone, Tudor-gothic archway desidne
C S Smith. To the east the arch connects with trel&h Lodge, while an arched opening to the weslisl¢o
gardens below the east facade comprising an areavofplanted with mature specimen trees. The laas
been divided into two unequal areas by a late @@ lyedge running from west to east.

A partly stone-flagged and tarmac terrace and arEksvn below the west facade extend ¢ 30m ta¢heains
of a mid C19 stone balustrade which separatesthace from an area of level mown grass used iCfteas
a cricket ground. A mid C20 timber pavilion standshe south. Repton advised the constructiontefrace
below the west front in 1809, but the terrace astocted in 1814 does not correspond to his padpdbe
terrace was developed as a formal garden with geimnparterre beds designed by W A Nesfield inrtid
C19; these were simplified by Percy Cane in thed$%hd do not visibly survive. The terrace repleed
early C18 walled bowling green which is shown wiew from the south-west (1749), and on surveys7f9
and 1766. Farm buildings to the north-west and wEtiie Abbey were removed by the early C19 when th
Home Lawn, an area for sheep grazing roughly cpoeding to the cricket ground, was created (Redkigoo

The slope descending from the south facade to iver Rvon is terraced to provide a wide lawn and a
riverside walk. Stone steps aligned on the axithefwest terrace descend to a gravelled upper Watke
east and west ends of this walk further steps desaggrass slope to reach the wide central tervettieh is
today (2000) laid to grass with the remains of {218 pedestals standing adjacent to gravel walkisetovest
and east of the lawn. The west walk continues e @ the west terrace to the riverside walk whigh
reached by further east and west flights of sté@psswhich descend a grass bank. The riverside iwalk
retained by a stone balustrade (restored 199@dligtade 11) which breaks forward to east and westuare
bastions. A central flight of stone steps descaadise water. The south terraces were developadl By
Nesfield in the mid C19 with a scheme comprisingrgetric beds for seasonal planting and Irish yeWwE
does not survive. To the south-east, a mid C19awatory (listed grade I1*) overlooks a similar laywhere
again the mid C19 formal scheme does not survitie.cbnservatory was built to the designs of WillBorn
in 1851 (Tyack 1994).

A gravel walk south of the conservatory sweepstseaist below a curved brick wall which screensstwice
yard, and continues east, parallel to the southafdhe kitchen garden (listed grade Il) for c 8a@mreach the
Rose Garden. Some 50m south-east of the oranggightof stone steps ascends from the walk taia qf
ornate C18 wrought-iron gates with an armorial twemw which are supported by a pair of square-secti
stone piers set in the kitchen garden wall (alétisgrade 11). A further pair of gates and pierst€éd grade II)
is set in the garden wall ¢ 80m south-east of taagery, at the north-west corner of the Rose Gartlee
Rose Garden comprises a level rectangular terraéehvis laid to lawn and planted with mid C20 speen
conifers. At the centre of the lawn an elaboradglyeC19, four-tier Coade stone fountain is supgexin a
pedestal cast to resemble entwined branches. Timdio stands in a circular pool, the raised edgehich is
also constructed in Coade stone cast to resembis mith planting pockets and images of a varidty o
animals. The Rose Garden is enclosed to the nodleast by brick kitchen garden walls, near thdeaofy
which stands an early C19 circular, thatched ristimmerhouse (listed grade 1) supported by tnaeks.

From the Rose Garden a walk descends south-easgthan area of informal shrubbery for ¢ 30m t@hea
timber footbridge with lattice balustrades whichsses a stone-lined water channel to reach an @afly
timber summerhouse (restored early C20). Thigim&d at the west end of a long narrow islandnéaalong
an artificially widened stretch of the River Avamthe south of the Abbey. The summerhouse hasérche
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openings to the north, south and west, and a mahilterior with a simple bench seat. The openiniié¢
south leads to a further riverside shrubbery watkmding ¢ 100m south-east along the island; theestined
water channel extends along the north side ofdlamd and was formerly crossed by a footbridgetnbrth-
east end of the island. The River Avon was widdnekB09 as part of Repton's improvements by laying
together the river and an adjacent mill stream.tétep lake was retained by a stone weir ¢ 300rmhseast of
the house; this dam was raised during the C19 $owb silting and was breached by floods in the @20.
The lake to the south of the Abbey was partiallgstated in 1999(2000. The shrubbery walk contirtogbe
south-east of the summerhouse on the north sitteeadtone-lined channel, leading ¢ 160m to an
approximately circular area enclosed to the noyta bank retained by rockwork and planted with grexn
shrubbery. A semicircular drystone-lined alcoveesinto this bank, while a stone-kerbed octagshallow
fountain basin occupies the centre of the leveligdoto the south. Above the alcove, among matueegesen
shrubs, a stone pedestal with a low pyramid capddh839 commemorates three family dogs, while ¢éostist
a further group of late C19 and early C20 dogstibtemes stand within a low, green-painted timbée fence.
The early C19 sunken garden and dogs' cemeterynaterthe pleasure grounds to the south-east;eacgat
30m east of the dogs' cemetery leads to the pdrike & walk returns north-west to the Rose Gardée.
pleasure grounds are separated from the Cunnéhg teorth by a mixed hedge and timber fence.

A walk leads south-west from the south terracesutjih an area of shrubbery and mature trees. Some 80
south-west of the house a C19 water engine is ldoinsan early C19, single-storey, Tudor-gothic ston
pavilion attributed to C S Smith (Parklands 199He walk continues ¢ 50m south-west to a two-arcede
bridge dated 1704 (datestone) which crosses adasBayond the bridge, the walk passes througteada0
timber gate to enter the park. The cascade is etsdavith the site of a medieval mill which waswsished
in 1812 as part of Repton's improvements. An eafl9 stone weir in the park ¢ 500m west-north-wéshe
Abbey allows water to flow into the lower river, ihthe former mill race is retained at a higheseleby the
mill island to the south. Repton used the mill eagcas a feature at the west end of the lake créatbe
south of the house in 1809.

PARK The park comprises two distinct areas: the New Rathe west and south of the Abbey, and the Deer
Park to the north-east of the A444 road. The Ner Ramains pasture with scattered mature trees and
significant areas of woodland on the north-facilogs to the south of the River Avon. The river &nel
watercourses associated with the medieval milltaacearly C19 lake to the south of the Abbey flovan S-
shaped course from north-west to south-east thrtheghlew Park. An area of mid C20 plantation adjdhe
river to the north-east of the Rennie Bridge, whilé¢he south of the river, The Grove is an extemsirea of
mixed woodland which is shown on a survey of 159% Grove is approached by a walk which leads south
west from the mill bridge across the mill islandctoss the River Avon on an early C19 footbridgehwi
classically inspired cast-iron balustrades and haitsl (rails removed, 2000). The bridge is supgdiin a
rectangular stone pier set in the centre of therrand has stone abutments to the north and doutB09
Repton proposed a bridge on a site to the eakegfresent footbridge, but the scheme was not immgrited
and the footbridge was built after 1813 to replacesarlier bridge serving a road to Ashow. Some t6rth-
west of the bridge a culvert conveying water frdva mill race discharges from a rusticated stonk @ra
small cascade; these features formed part of Rispeanly C19 alterations to the watercourses. Soiutihe
footbridge a series of walks extends north-westsmdh-east through The Grove. An early C19 icebatis
domed brick construction (dome partly collapsed®0s built into the steep, north-facing hillsid20m
south of the bridge. Ascending the slope in a sarfesweeping curves, the south-east walk pasdes@
cutting ¢ 450m south-west of the Abbey which suegifrom a road which formerly crossed the park from
north to south, leading to the village of Ashows®8 south of The Grove. Some 300m south-east of the
footbridge the south-east walk passes through an,aomrth-facing glade, known as The View, whidbwas a
panoramic vista from north-west to north-east ermassing the park, Grecian Lodges, Rennie Bridgbg#b
and the pleasure grounds, with a water meadow, Meadow, in the foreground. The south-east walk
continues for ¢ 450m to reach the eastern bourmfathe woodland; further walks pass through the di@od
to reach a walk which follows its southern boundAtythe south-east corner an area of mature orntahe
shrubbery adjoins a gate leading to adjacent mesdio@m where there are views south-east acrosRithe
Avon to Bericote Wood, and west along the souttbenmdary of The Grove. The south-east walk passes
across the south-east end of How Meadow beforsicigshe river on a bridge of C20 timber constiueiut
which stands on older stone abutments (Parklang8)1$ome 80m north of the bridge, two pools amditer
channel to the east separate a triangular are@aflow from the park to the north. Known as HomenGea
Green, this was the site of a medieval monastinggand a fulling mill which ceased to operatenim ¢arly
C17 (ibid).
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A further area of the New Park lies to the nortkted the National Agricultural Centre ¢ 1km no#gést of the
Abbey. This area, which remains pasture with scadtenature trees, is bounded to the west by therRivon,
and to the north by the River Sowe. It is separftad the Deer Park to the east by the A444 ro&e. ibad
was diverted to the east at the southern end gfahein the mid C20, leaving the late C15 Starieldgr
(scheduled ancient monument; listed grade I1*)ated in the park. The park rises to the north aféSBridge
with a group of earthworks at Motslow Hill, an agi Hundred meeting place overlooking the River Sow
and Stoneleigh village. This area was taken ingégpidrk in the 1820s.

The Deer Park is today in divided use, with lanth® south-west, adjacent to the A444 road, remgias
pasture with scattered mature trees and groupe®d bn high ground. To the north and north-easpéhik has
been developed in the late C20 as a golf courdeaviubhouse and car park ¢ 130m north-west aficClo
Bridge. Mature parkland oaks and other specimesstremain on the mown grass fairways, together with
areas of mixed woodland on the north- and soutmdeslopes above the River Avon which flows in an S
shaped course from north-east to south-west thrthegbark. To the south, a late C20 business paplaiit
using mid C20, single-storey, pre-fabricated forfmespital buildings occupies the south-east-fasinge
above Stareton Lane. Mature parkland trees remiimnithe business park, together with mid and @28
ornamental trees and shrubs. Mature trees, ingygicturesque early C19 groups of pines, remaiacaijt to
the boundaries of the Deer Park. Within the panknants of a circuit of carriage drives survivetlher, late
C20 hard-surfaced paths have been created to $ergwlf course and business park. Some 700m mett-
of Tantara Lodge a two-arched stone bridge, knosvih@ Coach Bridge (listed grade Il), crosses tiverR
Avon to allow access from the former London Drigehe area of the park on the north side of therrivhe
bridge was constructed in 1679 (datestone) andswlasequently altered in the C18 (listed building
description). The early C19 Deer Keeper's Lodgae(ti grade 1) stands in an area of mixed woodtand
south-east-facing slope above the river ¢ 220mhAggst of the Coach Bridge. The Deer Keeper's Lodge
comprises a two-storey rendered brick cottage coctstd in a Tudor style with a single-storey galpedch,
ornamental bargeboards and leaded windows. Sir akdreigh (d 1626) was granted a license to imp@afk 7
acres (c 291ha) at Fletchampstead and Stoneletghdexact location of this park is unknown. 11426
Thomas, first Baron Leigh, was licensed to impadR 8cres (c 333ha) at Stoneleigh; the creatiohisfgark
required the closure of Clowde Lane (on the linéhefearly C19 London Drive) and Connigray Laneckhi
led from the River Avon to Stoneleigh village. Tinéd C17 park comprised some 320 acres (c 133hd), an
was extended to its present area in the 1820soR€p809) praised the landscape of the Deer Patknade
no recommendations for its improvement. Improvemént picturesque style were made between 1818 and
1839 by James Henry Leigh, Julia Leigh and Chahéggh with the advice of the local architect C Sithm
who, in addition to designing the landscape stmastumay have advised on the landscape itself igrat&
1997).

KITCHEN GARDEN Three walled gardens and orchards are situatégeteast of the Abbey beyond a
service drive which leads south from the stablgbedkitchens south-east of the Abbey. The gardems
enclosed by early C18 brick walls ¢ 3.5m high amdr®unted by stone copings (listed grade I1). Tlestw
garden is entered from the west by a simple tindoer, and is today laid to lawn separated from hixe
perimeter borders by wide gravel walks. At the bewest corner tall stone piers support a pair ohorental
early C18 wrought-iron gates (all listed gradddBding to the pleasure grounds. Some 15m eabkedfates,
an arched stone structure incorporated into théhswall is of uncertain origin, but in the late Cd@s used as
an aviary (OS 1886). At the north-west corner aB 6ihgle-storey brick gardener's cottage has briemded
and is set in late C20 domestic gardens sepanaiatdthe body of the west garden by a beech hedgairfof
tall rusticated stone piers surmounted by balbfgi{listed grade II) is set in the east wall adidgrwith the west
door. This leads to the east garden which is tqi@yted as an orchard with late C20 standard tireits set in
grass. A further entrance at the south-east cafritie west garden connects the gardens. At thidnsoest
corner of the east garden stone piers supportlaefupair of early C18 wrought-iron gates with amarial
overthrow (listed grade Il) which lead to the R@sarden. To the north, and separated by a furtbeidao
hedge, late C20 domestic gardens surround theaudfgearly C19 single-storey brick bothy which bagn
extended and converted to domestic use. The badlsyfevmerly surrounded by the frame yard and sévera
ranges of C19 glasshouses (OS). The west endusfreef early C20 glasshouse abuts the south-eastcof
the east garden, a gap in the wall leading to ¢lihsgarden having been filled with late C20 timfezrcing.
The irregularly shaped south garden lies to théhsoiHome Farm and is the site of a substantitdaed
late C20 house.
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Figure 2: Stoneleigh Abbey site plan
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Figure 3: West park weir, general plan
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Figure 4: West park weir, exposed section on east side of spillway
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Figure 5: West park weir, west wall above spillway
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Figure 7: East wall above spillway



\
\

Straight Mass of limecrete
joint
Apparent
infilled portal
Rebuilt wall

to east of weir

Servergo:/oaupubsi_lthuQ*KESARL11*KESARLBS*Stoneleigh Abbey*GS*24.05.12

Approx curve

H\

Step
|

Shoylde,

Void from
lost dam

Ex-situ block

Collapsing

section of weir

Fragments of
surviving spillway

e -

CBKEF?:; D Infill, cement/concrete shape of | beam
. [] sStone
~~~~~ B Timber 0
B Concrete

1:75

Main dam
i
Slop%d
,
'
Drop A+ = Obscured
SN
// N
,,,,,,,,,,,,, 1
1
1
1
7777777777777 !
7
/
/
/
/
/
/
4
4
4
,
,/
L
e ’
’ 4
-7 ’
- /
- /
- ’
______ e
L
Bypass channel s

around weir .-~

Figure 8: Island weir plan



° Servergo:/oaupubsi_IthuQ*KESARL11*KESARLBS*Stoneleigh Abbey*GS*06.02.13

NW SE

________________________________

Coursed ashlar to
west side of weir

Boulders to east
of the weir

Limecrete base to weir

E Q ] — Spillway to west

(upstream) side of the weir

o o O o o o O
C I 1aDo o ° 6 3% 06 0% . o o g 5
Concrete spillway o © ®oy P og5 o ° © o o © o ogoo0® ° L, o° °
o O O o © o o o °
o o © °© o o o 0 o 2 o
o o o o °© 5 o © o o o o — D
o © o o o o o o/
o 0 o
© o
0 im
1:25

Figure 9: Island weir, section through weir looking to south-west
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Figure 11: Section detail through spillway on east side of the island weir, looking south
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Figure 12: Island weir, detail of culvert portal in north wall to west side of weir
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Figure 15: Gazebo bridge, south elevation of north channel
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Figure 16: Gazebo bridge, north elevation of south channel
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Figure 17: Abbey Mill bridge, ex-situ remains of sluice gates
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Figure 18: Ex-situ moulded stones recovered from pool beneath west park weir
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Plate 3: West Park Weir general view from south prior to works Plate 4: West Park Weir general view prior to works

Plates 1 - 4
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Plate 7: West Park Weir, detail of stonework to east of weir Plate 8: West Park Weir detail of spillway before works

Plates 5 - 8
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Plate 9: West Park Weir spillway before start of conservation works

Plate 11: West Park Weir exposed masonry on east side of weir Plate 12: West Park Weir exposed masonry on east side of weir

Plates 9 - 12




Plate 15: West Park Weir sect10n of east wall _ Plte 16 West Park Weir, east wall durmg Works showing su1v1ng block
at base

Plates 13 - 16




Plate 18: West Park Weir west wall during reconstruction with new
concrete apron

PG A

Plate 19: West Park Weir spillway before reconstruction Plate 20: West Park Weir, spillway and rebuilt west wing wall

Plates 17 - 20




Plate 23: Island Weir, general view from SE prior to works Plate 24: Island Weir, general view from SW prior to works

Plates 21 - 24
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Plate 27: Island Weir, surviving stonework looking south Plate 28: Island Weir, detail of truncated weir prior to works

Plates 25 - 28
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Plate 29: Island Weir, collapsed section of weir prior to works Plate 30: Island Weir, general view looking north prior to work
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Plate 31: Island Weir, lower spillway looking north
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Plates 29 - 32
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Plate 36: Island Weir, view of north wall to west of weir

Plates 33 - 36
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Plate 39: Island Weir, clay puddling Plate 40: Isand Weir, lower spillway
between the upper and lower spillways

Plates 37 - 40
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Plate 43: sland Weir, culvert portal in north wall Plate 44: Island Weir, general view of rebuilt weir looking north-east

Plates 41 - 44
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Plate 47: Gazebo Bridge, generl View rio to works Plate 48: Gazebo Bridge, view of channel to east

Plates 45 - 48
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Plate 49: Gazebo Bridge, north wall Plate 50: Gazebo Bridge, general view from north prior to work

Plate 52: Gazebo Bridge, east end of north wall

Plates 49 - 52
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Plate 54: Gazebo Bridge, southern wall

Plate 55: Gazebo Bridge, eastern part of southern wall Plate 56: Gazebo Bridge, northern wall

Plates 53 - 56
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Plate 57: Gazebo Bridge, general view from south-east Plate 58: Gazebo Bridge, view of gazebo

-5

Plate 59: Gazebo Bridge, floor detail
within summer house

Plate 60: Gazebo Bridge, detail of summer house roof

Plates 57 - 60
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Plate 64: Gazebo Bridge, north wall prior to works

Plates 61 - 64
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Plate 65: Gazebo Bridge, general view prior to main work
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Plate 67: Gazebo Bridge, view from west during repairs Plate 68: Gazebo Bridge, general view during conservation

Plates 65 - 68
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Plate 71: Gazebo Bridge, floor at SE corner Plate 72: Gazebo Bridge, floor in southern channel beneath bridge

Plates 69 - 72




Plate 75: Gazebo Bridge, view after conservation works Plate 76: Gazebo Bridge, floor detail after removal of summer house

Plates 73 - 76
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Plate 80: Abbey Mill Bridge, south wall to east of bridge

Plates 77 - 80
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Plate 82: Abbey Mill Bridge, ex-situ sluice gate structure

Plate 83: Abbey Mill Bridge, detail of ex-situ sluice gate structure Plate 84: Abbey Mill Bridge, north wall to west of bridge

Plates 81 - 84
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Plate 85: Abbey Mill Bridge, general view to south prior to works Plate 86: Abbey Mill Bridge, north wall to east of bridge

Plate 87: Abbey Mill Bridge, new replica sluice gates installed Plate 88: Abbey Mill Bridge, view from bridge after lake works

Plates 85 - 88



Plate 89: General view during top soil stripping for new channel
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Plate 91: View during construction of bypass channel looking west Plate 92: South-eastern end of bypass channel

Plates 89 - 92
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Plate 93: General view during re-profiling of river bank Plate 94: General view during re-profiling of river bank

Plate 95: General view during re-profiling of river bank

Plates 93 - 96



Plate 98: Moulded stone retrieved from West Park Weir pool
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er section of wall retrieved from West Park Weir pool Plate 100: Stone retrieved from Island Weir heavily worn by water flow

Plates 97 - 100
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